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'ﬁﬁ-ﬁir%harﬁhiﬂdﬂrs; Stakeholders, and Valued Partners,

"ql'ﬁ are :iellghted to present to you our Annual Report, a comprehensive reflection of

our jﬁurﬁaymrtha past year. In these pages, we share the milestones, challenges,
.al:td Etmﬁ:ﬂﬁiﬂi that have defined our commitment to financial excellence and our
'Whﬂﬂmﬁm to the prosperity of our stakeholders,

‘Our bank, Myanmar Citizens Bank, stands at the forefront of Myanmar's financial
sector, plaglny a pivotal role in driving economic growth, supporting entrepreneurship,
‘and enhancing the financial wall -being of individuals and businesses alike. As a
'mpumibie« business entity, we place special emphasis on human resources
sprment and good governance practices, and we strive to enhance service quality
gk ‘:tha use of digital technologies. Our mission is deeply rooted in the belief that
, "___a“f'-' ﬁhﬁp: financial sector is the bedrock of a prosperous nation.

In this Annual Report, we will delve into our key accomplishments, financial
performance, and the strategic decisions that have steered us through the
‘ever-evolving landscape of the banking industry. We will share insights into our
'mnwﬂ‘wg products and services, the impact we've had on the communities we serve,
-anﬂ ﬂ‘iﬂﬁ]’l’lﬂﬂﬂ&ﬂ&bﬂﬂw enhancement programs that align with our values.

~as a business entity, we place special emphasis on compliance,
-amﬂumhilrt:-.r., and effective risk management systems in order to build trust and
stability for our investors and stakeholders.

In the p: that follow, we invite you to explore our story, our vision, and our ongoing
pursuit of financial excellence. Join us on this journey as we reflect on our
‘achievernents and look forward to a brighter future.

MCB

Myarimar CHEgemni Man)

The Annual Report of the Board of Directors submitted to
the Annual General Meeting can be downloaded from the following link.

https://mcb.com.mm/annualreport
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MCB

Mymnimar Cliliane Rask

Message from

the Chairman

Dear Shareholders

It is rry privilege to present the Annual Report of Myanmar Citizens Bank for the fiscal year 20242025, This
vear marked a perod of both resilience and Innovation, as we navigated economic challenges while
delivering sustainable growth and expanding our range of products and services to meet the evolving needs
of our customers,

Despite a comples operating emvironment, we rermalned steacfast imour mission to becorme a strong, stable,
sustainable; ethical, and innovative bank that creates wvalue for all stakeholders by harnessing and
contributing t the progress of Myanmarn, Cur achiesements this year are & testarnent to the dedication of aur
rmartagement eam, employees, and the trust placed [n us by our customers and shareholders.

A key measure of our resilience this year was the significant progress we made in strengthening our financial
positlon, We are proud o repot a notable reduction in cur Mon-Performing Loan (MPL) ratio, a direct result
of our proactive sk maragement strategles and disciplined approach to lending. This improved asset
guallty not only bolsters our financlal stabillty but also positions us for more sustalnable growth in the future.
Whe will continue to pricetize a strong and healthy balance sheet (o ensure we can meaet olr commitments
bz all stakeholders,

We continued b diversife our portfolio and strengthen our market presence through a wide range of
financlal solutlons. In retall and consumer banking, we expanded offerings across deposit accounts, loan
products, digital banking, and insurance services. Our collaboration with Life Insurance and Seneral
Insurarce allowed us to provide custormers with both [ife and general Insurance products, enhancing
financial security and peace of mind

In SME and corporate banking, we supported Myanmars economic backbone micrs, small, and medium
enterprises through targeted financing programs such as eMSME Loans, JICA Two-Step Loans, and MSME
Two-Step Loans, These programs have enabled entreprenadrs o access affordable financing, éxpand thelr
operations, and create jobs, directly contributing to national econemic development

Cigltal banking rermalned a strategic priorty, as we continued to enhance customer expertence and
operational efficiency. The launch of our enhanced Internet Banking platform and the Integration of
advanced Maobile Banking features into the CTZPay Super App marked a major leap in prosiding a seamlass,
sacufe and comvenlent banking experdence. These Innovations support Myanmar's transition t© a digital
ecoromy while promoting fimancial inclusion across urban and rural areas.

This vear, we strengthened our blsiness partnerships, collaborating with over 130 partners across varlous
sactors from retail and education to hospitality and healthcare to offer our customens exclusive benefits and
discounts We alse expanded our international remittance nebwork, ensuring that Myanmar nationals
wiorking abroad can send money home securely, guickly, and affordably,

I line with Sur growth strategy, we successfully expanded our branch network By Spening bwio ngw

branches during the fiscal year, This expansion allows us to servwe more custormers acress Myanmar, bring
Banking services closer to communities, and further strengthen our naticrwide presence.

031 THE CITIZENS' CHOICE

U Toe Aung Myint
Chairman

We allgn our products and operations with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals {SDGs),
including financing Initiatives that promote economic growth, support education, and enharnce
community well-being. Our governance framework remains anchored in transparency, accountability,
and integrity, ensuring wé uphold the highest standards in every aspect of our operations.

As we move inte the next Fiscal year, our focus will rernain on sustainable growth, digital innovation, and
deepening customer relationships. We will continue to invest In technology, strengthen our human
capital, and expand our product offérings (o meet the diverse neads of our stakeholders

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | extend my sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their continued
trust, to our customaers for their loyalty, and to our emplovees for their dedication, Together, we will
continue building a bank that is not only financially strong but alse a responsible contributor to
Myanmmar's progress. ' i
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Established in 1992, Myanmar Citizens Bank ("MCB") remains persistent in its commitment to
our valued shareholders. MCB, one of Myanmar's oldest private commercial banks and the first
to be listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange, is currently experiencing rapid growth,
underpinned by a robust financial base and a proficient leadership team.

Our diverse shareholder base, experienced board of directors, and seasoned senior
management team bring both wisdom and expertise to our operations. This synergy ensures
a governance framework founded on ethics and transparency.

We pledge to continue our unwavering dedication to shareholders’ value and sustained
growth. Your trust is the cornerstone of our success, and we express aur sincere gratitude for

your ongoing support.

MCB operates as a responsible company committed to its investors, customers, and
-employees. With a foundation built on exceptional performance, continuous improvemnent,
and accountability, we aim to maintain our position as a leader in Myanmar's banking sector,
We are also dedicated to delivering more efficient services through our business objectives,
innovations, and the support of technology.

Dedicated to serving our growing client base, Myanmar Citizens Bank (MCB) takes pride in
distributing innovative and competitive financial products and services, We've established a
robust network of 58 branches across 31 cities throughout the country. These strategically
located branches ensure that our offerings are easily accessible to our customers, no matter
where they are in Myanmar, We are expanding both physically and digitally as well.
Furthermore, we are actively working to enhance our telecommunications technology and
mobile banking services,

Cur ever-expanding team, comprising owver 1000 committed and dynamic banking
professionals, is at the heart of MCB's success. These individuals, with their diverse talents and
expertise, are the driving force behind our friendly and efficlent customer service. We
understand the importance of not just meeting but exceeding your expectations when It
comes to personalized financial solutions.

Cur branch network and dedicated team work in harmony to create a supportive environment
where our clients can confidently navigate the ever-evolving landscape of financial services, At
MCE, we strive to remain at the forefront of the banking Industry, adapting to changing
markat dynamics and embracing opportunities for innovation and excellence.

Through our extensive branch network and our dedicated professionals, we are
well-positioned to continue delivering exceptional financial services that meet the unigue
needs of our clients across Myanmar, Your trust in us remains the cornerstone of our growth
and success, and we look forward to serving you with our unwavering commitment to
excellence.

L2 — - ; '
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Myanmar Citizens Bank
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1992

Commenced
Banking Operation

1998

Class A share
transferred to MOC

2017

Upgradation of IT Facllities
and Implementation of
T24 Core Banking Software

2018

Core Banking
System Implementation

2016

JICA SME
T'wo Step Loan

2020

Digital
Transformation
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2003

International
Banking Service

2007

E payment system
for Trade License Fees

2015

Launched
mabile money
sarvice 663

2012

Money Changer
License

2023

Expanding
Branch Netwaork

2024

Launching
MCB VISA Credit Card
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Our Vision Our Values

“Te become a strong, stable, sustainable, ethical and innovative

bank which creates value for all stakeholders by harnessing and @ Professional
contributing to the progress of Myanmar”
@ Respect
@ Integrity
@ Diversity & Inclusion
Create value for our westore
through saund fimancial performancse
@ Ethical

Our Culture

Our

mce Financial inchusiveness

g branch cionl barking

/’
M iSSiOn { cligital delivery channets @ Performance Driven ® GCrowth Mindset
— @ FPeople, Process & System @ Ethical Banking
I et vt oot i
J ﬁgﬂﬁi‘hh' AETIDM A @® Customer Centric @® Profit Sense
[ " ]
® Teamwork @ Cigital Orientation
Build a seciim, robust [T infrastuctune
% ?Efff:#ﬂl‘ﬁ;ﬂﬂjﬁ“ﬁﬂﬂl ® Risk and Compliance @® Learning & Development
to the customers k —/
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Strategic Way forward

Markeat

As part of our long-term vision, Myanmar Citizens Bank (MCB) Fosition

has set six strategic goals to be achieved over the next five
years. These goals are designed to strengthen our market
position, enhance operational excellence, and deliver
exceptional value to our stakeholders.

. azgﬂt‘*f}aﬂwﬁ f C/
‘-;&Lanﬂ““"”' e a’(’ & %\
w2\

1. Rank Among the Top 7 Banks in Terms of Balance Sheet Size

We aim to significantly expand our balance sheet through targeted growth in deposits, loans,
and investment portfolios. This will be achieved by diversifying our customer base, enhancing
product offerings, and leveraging both retail and corporate banking opportunities to drive sus-
tainable growth,

2. Beoome a Profitable Bank

©Our focus will be on improving revenue streams, optimizing cost structures, and maintaining
prudent risk management practices. We will pricritize high-yield assets, enhance non-interest
income, and adopt a disciplined approach to expense control to ensure consistent profitability.

3. Rank Among the Top 3 in Terms of Balance Sheet Quality

MCB is committed to maintaining a robust and resilient balance sheet by improving asset qual-
ity, managing credit risk effectively, and ensuring adequate liquidity and capital buffers. Our
target is to keep non-performing loan ratios at minimal levels while adhering to the highest
prudential standards.

13 1 THE CITIZENS CHOICE
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These strateglc priortles will gulde MCB In achleving sustalnable growth, deliverng walue 1o
curshareboldars, and contributing meaningfully to Myanmiar's ecopomic development,

4. Be Recognized as the Most Technologically Savvy Bank

We will continue to invest in state-of-the-art banking technologies, enhance digital platforms,
and introduce innovative products that meet evolving customer needs, Qur goal is to provide
seamless, secure, and efficient digital banking experiences that set new benchmarks in the
Industry.

5. Be the Best Emplayer in the Banking Industry

At MCB, we recognize that our people are our greatest asset. We will cultivate a culture of
excellence by offering competitive rewards, investing in employee development, and fostering
an Iinclusive and engaging work environment where talent thrives.,

6. Become the Preferred Bank of Customers

We aspire to be the first choice for customers by delivering superior service, tailored

solutions, and a personalized banking experience. Through strong relationship management
and continuous service improverment, we aim to build lasting trust and loyalty.

Since 1992 wiannw.mechocomamm 1 14




MCB Branches
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®  Myitkyina Branch

Fﬂlandala}; nugln%

® Mandalay (1) Branch
Mandalay (2) Branch
Mandalay (3) Branch
Mandalay (5) Branch
Mandalay (6) Branch
Mandalay (7) Branch
Kyaukpadaung Branch

Kywesalkan Branch
Myingyan Branch
Pyin Oo Lwin Branch
Kyaukse Branch
Meikhtila Branch

® Naypyitaw Branch
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r Kayin State é rsagalng Region é "i’angun Region 4

®* mMyawaddy Branch

r Bago Region /;

® Bago Branch
Pyay Branch
Nyaunglepin Branch

Taungoo Branch

r Rakhine State 14

® Sittway Branch

' Shan State //

® Taunggyi Branch

Muse Branch
Lashio Branch
Tachileik Branch
Aungban Branch

Maypyitaw (Myomazay) Branch

Since 1992

* Monywa Branch
Shwebo Branch

rMagway Region 4,

® Magway Branch
Pakokku Branch

Aunglan Branch
Yesagyo Branch

r Mon State ///

® Mawlamyine Branch

Ayeyarwaddy
Region //

® pPathein Branch

Myaungmya Branch
Hinthada Branch
Phyapon Branch

® Kyauktada Branch
Kyauktada(2) Branch
Bayintnaung Branch
Bayintnaung Mini Branch
Latha Branch
Pazundaung Branch
Pabendan Mini Branch
Dawbon Branch
MNorth Okkalapa Branch
South Okkalapa Branch
Sawbwargyigone Branch
Boaungkyaw Branch
Yaykyaw Branch
Sanchaung Branch
Kyimyindaing Branch
Khayan Branch
Kamarkyi Branch
Kabaraye Branch
Thingangyun Branch
South Dagon Branch

Tanintharyi
Region

® Myeik Branch
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What we Offer

Deposit

Deposit Products, one of the main banking products of MCB Bank, are carefully
structured to meet the diverse financial needs of our wvalued customers. Savings
Accounts, Call Deposit Accounts, Current Accounts, Fixed Deposit Accounts, various
products and services under these main account types, are provided promptly, with
competitive interest rates depending on the specific type and nature of the deposit
products and their associated period/term. Competitive interest rates on
deposited amounts, assurance of safety/guarantee, and liguidity (eq., cash
withdrawal as and when reguired] are basic regquirements of Deposit Accounts,
and depositors in  our Bank enjoy  attractive @ interest rates, robust
sacurity measures, and cash withdrawal as and when requirad.

MCB

Savings

171 THE CITIZENS CHOICE

Saving Deposit Accounts

1. Savings Deposit Account

2. Special Savings Deposit Account
3, Senior Savings Deposit Account
4. Remit Savings Account

5. Seafarer Savings Account

6. Payroll Savings Account

7. ¥outh Savings Account

8. Student Savings Account

2. Premium Special Savings Account
10, Recurring Deposit Accounts

1. Elite Savings Account

12. Citizens Pay Agent Saving Account

Since 1992

3 R e

Hyanmar CHEjenl fMahk

Call Deposits Accounts
1. Mormal Call Deposit Account
2. Special Call Deposit Account

3. Flexi Call Deposit Account

Current Accounts
1. Mormal Current Account

2. Special Current Account

Fixed Deposits Accounts

1. Normal Fixed Deposit Account

2. Special Fixed Deposit Account

3. Super Y Days Fixed Deposit Account
4.15 Days Upfront Fixed Deposit Account
5. 1M Upfront Fixed Deposit Account

6. Supreme 60 Days Fixed Deposit Account
7. Prime Plus 3M Fixed Deposit Account

B. Potoe Fixed Deposit Account

wian.mecbhb.ocomaemm |18



at we Offer

In line with MCB Bank's \Vision, "To become a strong, stable, sustainable, ethical
and innovative bank which creates wvalue for all stakeholders by harnessing and
contributing to the progress of Myanmar”, the Bank has been consistently delivering
a wide range of products and services that align with the United Nations Sustainable
Cevelopment Goals (SDCs), adopted by 193 countries, including Myanmar.

Consumer Banking

MCB Bank is continuously striving to deliver
distinctive Consumer Banking services that
fulfill the financial needs of its customers.
In response to the modern and evolving
reguirements of consumers, the Bank
provides a wide range of products and
services to help customers achieve their
fimancial goals securely and effectively.

Our Consumer Banking products include
various types of deposit accounts, loan
products, modernized digital banking services,
and insurance solutions. All these services are
designed to be simple, secure, trustworthy,
and highly beneficial to our valued customers

Hire Purchase

In alignment with SDC 9 [Industry,
Innovation, and Infrastructure), MCB Bank
dlso prowvides a robust range of Hire Purchase
products. to support our customers’
investment needs, These  financing
solutions are tailored to facilitate the
acquisition of wvarious assets, including:

Motor Vehicles: Personal cars, electric
vehicles (EVs), business-use vehicles, buses,
and lorries

« Machinery and Equipment: Agricultural
equipment, heawvw-duty machinery, and
other business-relatad tools

Our Hire Purchase scheme covers both
brand-nmew and guality-tested used assets.
By offering flexible financing solutions, MCB
Bank empowers customers Lo axpand theair
businesses and responsibly acquire essential
assets for both commercial and personal use.

Since 1992

HPCammertial Loan

wiana.mchocomamm | 20



What we Offe

Solar Financing Loan

Aiming to promote clean energy adoption
and reduce energy costs for lecal businesses,
MCEB Bank has introduced the Solar
Financing Loan product. This initiative
aligns with SDG 8 (Decent Work and
Economic Growth] and S0OG 13 [Climate
Action). This financing solution supports the
purchase of solar panels, inverters,
batteries, and related accessories powered
by solar energy for the businesses.

MCB Bank provides up to 80% of the
required funds for the installation of solar
systems. MCB Bank's Solar Financing Loan
enables businesses to transition toward
sustainable energy sources, and thisinitiative
also enhances business capacity and
significantly lowers electricity expenses,
It contributes meaningfully to the
achievermnent of the State's Green Economy
Coals.

21 1 THE CITIZENS CHOICE
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MCB Visa Credit Card

Aligning with SDG 8 [Decent Work and
Economic Growth) and S5DGC 9 (Industry,
Innovation and Infrastructure), MCB Bank
proudly offers the MCB Visa Credit Card
to meet the needs of customers in both
their daily lives and business activities. The
card enables conwvenient, safe, and secure
payments through the glabally recognized
Visa network. It provides guick and reliable
access for online purchases, international
travel, or unexpected cash requirements.

Aligned with the objectives of the Central
Bank of Myanmar [CBM), the MCB Visa
Credit Card plays a vital role in promoting
a Cashless Society. MCB Bank remains
committed to supporting the development
of the country's financial services sector
by enhancing financial management
through modern technology and promoting
a safe and efficient payment ecosystem.

Personal Overdraft

Under SDG 1 (Mo Poverty) and SDC 8
(Decent Work and Economic Growth),
MCE Bank offers the Personal Owerdraft
product to meet the diverse personal
funding needs of its customers. This facility
serves as an alternative to traditional loan
options, such as mortgage loans, and is
well-suited for individual customers who
meat [oan repayment eligibility criteria.

Personal Overdraft Loan customers are
required to renew their Personal Overdraft
facility annually, with a mandatory 14-day
loan settlement pariod before renewal. With
its built-in financial flexibility, the Personal
Overdraft provides a reliable, safe, and secure
solution for managing emergency or urgent
financial requirements, allowing customers
access to funds precisely when needed.

Home Loan

According to SDG 11 (Sustainable Citles
and Communities), MCB Bank offers
Home Loan facilities to customers with
regular income, enabling them to fulfill
their dreams by purchasing land, land
with buildings for residential purposes, or
landed houses and apartments for personal
residence. Borrowers can make the locan
repayments through an Eguated Monthly
Instaliment (EMI) system.

2 "_'l-'_'_"'

MCB

Hyanmar CHEjenl fMahk

Education Loan

Quality education is a key pillar for national
development, and aligns with SDG & [Quali-
ty Education). MCB Bank's Education Loan
product is designed to support students
in achieving their academic goals,
facilitating the pursuit of Bachelor's and
Master's degrees, particularly in medical
and engineering fields, at both local and
international unlversities.

Salary Loan

Under 5DG 8 [(Decent Work and Economic
Crowth), MCE Bank offers the Salary Loan
preduct to meet the unexpected financial
needs of government officials and
permanent staff of companies. This loan is
tailored to provide quick and easy funding
based on the borrower's monthly salary.

The Salary Loan can help address financial
challenges related to household expenses,
healthcare needs, educational costs, or
emeargency requirements. It enhances the
borrower’s financial stabllity and serves as a
safe and secure financing solution.

wianaw.mech.ocomamm 1| 22
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What we Offer

SME & Corporate Banking

MCE Bank recognizes that micro, small, and medium enterprises play a vital role in the State's
economic development and innovation. Qur SME and Corporate Banking services are carefully
designed to meet the specific needs of these enterprises, offering comprehensive financial
solutions, expert advice, and modern technology. To help enterprises effectively manage their
financial strategies, expand their businessas, and successfully achieve their strategic goals,
MCE Bank provides a range of services, from simple Working Capital Loans and Fixed Term
Loans to more advanced Trade Financing, Cash Management, and Digital Banking Solutions.

& '
i oy

F . i .." " - _‘-_
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eMSME Loan

Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprises
(MSMEs) play a wvital role in generating
employment cppoertunities and improving
the financial well-being of people at the
grassroots level. MCB Bank offers eMSME
Loans to both existing and new micro,
cmall, and medium-sized entrepreneurs.

23] THE CITIZENS CHOICE
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JICA Twao-5tep Loan

MCB Bank isamong the financial institutions
of the Project Management Unit (PMU) to
disburse the loan funds provided by JICA. The
bank offers JICA Two-5tep Loans covering up
te 80% for additional fixed asset investments
and 20% for working capital of the borrowers.
The loan term is five years with an interest
rate of 7.5% annually. Many local micro and
medium-sized entrepreneurs have benefited
from the relatively low cost of this financing.

MSME Two-5tep Loan

In collaboration with the Weorking Body on
Loan Implementation (Myanma Economic
Bank - MERB] under the Micro, Small, and
Mediurn Enterprises Development Fund
of the Ministry of Planning and Finance,
MCB Bank offers MSME Two-Step Loans
to help local entrepreneurs. The loans are
provided at concessional interest rates for
both Fixed Capital and Working Capital
Loans, The repayment period ranges from
1.5 to 3 years, with interest rates of 3%, 4%, or
5%, depending on the guarantee coverage
by the Credit Guarantee Insurance [(CGl).

Overdraft Loan

MCEB Bank provides Owverdraft Loans to
borrowers who  require funds to meet
the working capital needs of their
businesses,. In line with the Central Bank
of Myanmar (CBM) guidelines, the Bank
aims to allocate no more than 20% of its
total loan portfolic to Overdraft Loans.
Customers must fully settle their Overdraft
Loan at least 14 days prior to renewal,

Since 1992

MCB
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What we Offer

Short-Term Loan

MCB Bank offers Short-Term Loans primarily to support basic trading transactions by
fulfilling business funding needs. These loans are disbursed for a specified term and must
be repaid according to the agreement following the completion of the trading process.
Depending on transaction requirermnments, this loan type may function as a revelving |loan.

Addition Short-Term Loan
Businesses often face additional working capital needs during seasonal periods, as well as

alongside their regular operations. To support these reguirements, MCEB Bank provides
Additional Short-Term Loans. The maximum loan tenure is six months.

Terrm Loan

To support business expansion and fixed asset improvements, MCB Bank offers Term Loans
to finance investments such as additional plants and equipment, land and property, or
improvements to existing fixed assets. Term Loans may also be used to meet ongoing working
capital needs. As per the Central Bank of Myanmar's regulations, Terrn Loans must be repaid
within a maximum period of three years,

Loan against Fixed Deposits

If Fixed Deposit Account holders require
funds before the maturity date of their
deposits, MCB Bank offers loans of up to
80% of the fived deposit amount. This
loan allows borrowers to access funds
without breaking their fixed deposits,
and the original term of the fixed
deposit remains valid.

Loan against Government Bonds/Bills

MCB Bank also provides loans of up to
80% of the value of GCovernment Bonds
or Bills, if the bondholders wish to obtain
funds before the maturity date of those
instruments. This allows customers to
retain their investment while accessing
needed funds, as the bonds/bills remain
valid without being sold.

251 THE CITIZENS CHOICE

3 R e

Myarimar CHEgemi Mk

Bank Guaranteas

Based on business requirements, MCEBE
Bank provides wvarious types of Bank
Guarantees, including Bid Bonds for tender
participation, Performance Eond
for agreement between owners and
contractors, and Advance Payment
Guarantees to access funds from owners.
Additionally, MCB Bank Iissues Shipping
Indemnities to logistice companies 1o
facilitate the operations of trading
companies.

Letters of Credit

Letters of Credit (LCs) are a common and
secure payment method in international
trade. They provide assurance to exporters
that they will receive payment after
shipment and to importers that they
will receive goods upon payment, in
accordance with the termns of trade
agreements. MCB Bank serves as a rellable
intermediary for both exporters and
importers by offering comprehensive LC
services to facilitate smooth international
transactions,

Since 1992 wiana.mch.ocomamm | 26




Trade Finance

Import Payment Services

To facilitate cross-border trade and support
corporate clients engaged in import activities,
MCE offers a comprehensive range of Import
Payment Services. These include Advance
Telegraphic Transfer (TT), Narmal Telegraph-
ic Transfer (TT}, Documentary Collection,
and Letter of Credit (L/C). Through these ser-
vices, importers are empowered to conduct
international transactions with greater confi-
dence, security, and operational efficiency,
ensuring smooth and reliable trade flows.

Import Financing

To facilitate import operations and ensure
access to imported goods, MCB Bank offers
financing of up to 80% of the value of import
documents. The loan term is set for up to four
months, or the required period for import
financing, or a shorter duration if applica-
ble. The |lcan must be repaid from the pro-
ceeds of selling the imported commodities.

Export Payment Services

To support exporters in receiving payments
from international buyers efficiently and
securely, MCB provides reliable Export Pay-
ment Services. The service offerings include
Advance Telegraphic Transfer (TT), Normal
Telegraphic Transfer (TT), Documentary
Collection, and Letter of Credit (L/C). These
solutions are tailored to facilitate smooth
cross-border trade by providing structured,
timely, and secure payment mechanisms,
thereby strengthening our clients' global
business operations.
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Export Financing

To support the country's export sector, MCB
Bank offers pre-shipment or post-shipment
loans of up to 80% of the export bill value, as
naaded. The loan must be repaid from the
export proceeds received from the import-
er. Typically, the export financing product
should be repaid within three months of the
disbursement date.

Supply Chain Financing Services

MCE provides Supply Chain Financing Ser-
vices Lo support trade custormers, including
both exporters and importers, in optimizing
their working capital and improving cash
floww management. Our offerings encom-
pass Local Invoice Financing, as well as Re-
ceivable and Payable Invoice Financing, en-
abling stakeholders across the supply chain
o access timely funding. These soclutions
are designed to enhance operational effi-
ciency, strengthen supplier relationships,
and ensura smoother trade transactions.

Treasury

Foreign Exchange (FX) Trading

In accordance with the CBM's instructions
International Trade Services have
been provided through the purchase
and sale of export proceeds via the
Online: Trading Platforrm for  imports.

Currency Exchange Counters

To provide customers with greater
convenience and accessibility, MCB has
established Currency Exchange Counters
at selected branches. These counters
offer fast and reliable foreign currency
exchange services, meeting the needs
of individual and corporate clients alike.

Government Treasury Securities

With the continued growth of public
deposits, MCB strategically invests in
Government Treasury Bills (short-term) and
GCovernment Treasury Bonds (long-term).
These investments aim to optimize income
generation while maintaining robust
liguidity levels and contributing to the
development of the domeestic capital market

Interbank Money Market

MCB actively participates in the Interbank
Money Market to manage liguidity and
address short-term funding needs. This
market facilitates the lending and borrowing
of funds between financial institutions
at mutually agreed interest rates for
cpecified durations. Through prudent
engagement in this market, MCB ensures
effective liquidity management and
supports overall financial system stability.

Since 1992
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Digital Banking

MCE Bank offers innovative Digital Banking Services designed to deliver
security, and efficiency to our customers. OQur Digital Banking Services, including
Internet Banking, Mobile Banking, Card Payment, and Wallet Payment, are developed
te meet the evolving needs of both

services are accessible anytime, anywhere.

individual customers and businesses

convenience,

Internet Banking

MCBE Bank introduced [nternet Banking
Services in 2020, enabling customers to
access their accounts at any time and
perform a wide range of banking
transactions online, Customers can
conveniently rmanage their finances, such
as transfers between MCB accounts and
inter-bank transfers, from their homes
or offices. The platform s designed to be
user-friendly, secure, and efficient. In 2025,
MCEB introduced newly featured internet
banking and corporate banking to their
custormers, offering enhanced functionalities
such as bulk payments, payroll processing,
real-time transaction monitoring, advanced
security controls, and customizable user
access for corporate clients-enabling
businesses to manage their financial
operations more efficiently and securely,
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Mobile Banking

In response to the growing market demand
for fast and convenient banking services,
MCB Bank launched its Mobile Banking App
in 2020, This service enables customers to
perform transfers between MCB accounts
and inter-bank transfers, manage their
accounts directly, and conduct various
financial transactions, all through their
mobile phones, In 2025 MCEB integrated
its newly enhanced mBanking features
into the CTZPay wallet, transforming it
into a Super App that combines banking,
payments, and lifestyle services in a single
platform allowing users to seamlessly
access. their bank accounts, perform
financial transactions, pay bills, shop
online, and engage with wvarious digital
services, all from one unified application.

Card Payment

MCB Bank introduced Card Payment
Services in 2020. Customers can make
seamless payments using MPU-JCB
Platinum Debit Cards and MPU-ICB
Co-branded Cards for both E-Commerce
and Online Payments. These cards can
also be used internationally in over 190
countries, offering access to Point of Sale
(POS) services and cash withdrawals at
domestic ATMs with ease and security.

Wallet Payment

In 2021, MCB Bank launched the CTZPay
Application, offering customers a faster, more
convenient, and efficient way to manage
their financial transactions. Designed to
enhance access to quality financial services,
CTZPay enables users to perform a wide
range of transactions, including Mobile

Since 1992
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Fayments, Bill Payments, Fund Transfers,
and Merchant Payments, directly from their
mobile phones. The application supports
MMQR ([Myanmar QR Code] payments,
allowing customers to easily pay at any
store that accepts MMOQR, MMQR [Myanmar
QR Code) integration in the CTZPay
App allows customers to make fast,
secure, and cashless payments at any
store that accepts MMQR, regardless
of the bank or wallet provider. It promotes
nationwide interoperability, enhances
convenience, reduces the need for physical
cash or POS machines, and supports
financial inclusion by enabling even small
businesses to accept digital payments
gasily—making it a key driver in Myanmar's
transition to a digital economy.

Additionally, users can access MCB mBanking
services through the CTZPay App and
conveniently transfer funds to their preferred
bank accounts,
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Business Partnership

Business partnerships play a vital role in the operations of MCB Bank. MCB Bank demonstrates
a commitment to delivering the best service to its loyal customers through mutually beneficial
collaborations not only within the banking industry but also in other sectors.

In addition, as part of MCB Bank's ongoing commitment to continuous development and
providing top-tler services, the Bank collaborates with New Partners and offers prices
specified rates to its loyal customers for a better and more convenient shopping experience. In
this 2024-2025 FY, MCB Bank is actively working to increase New Partners by focusing on the fol-
lowing sectors.

- Retall Stores and Supermarkets

- Well-known Private Universities,
Information Techmology Universities,
and Language schools

- Hotels and Tourism businesses
- Paopular Restaurants and Bars

- Healthcare Centers, Fitness Centers,
and Specialist Hospitals

- Airport Lounges for international and domestic travelers.

Currently, MCB Bank is collaborating with over 130 partners In Yangan, Mandalay, and other
cities to serve its loyal customers., Looking ahead, MCB Bank aims to expand its Partner
Metwork, These partnerships not only support business growth and customer engagement but
also contribute to diversified revenue streams, In the near future, MCB Bank plans to establish a
Discount Club that will bring together all business partners under one platform.

I
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What we Offer

Bancassurance

MCE Bank, in collabaration with its partner life insurance company, Capital Talyo Life Insurance,
introduced new insurance services in 2021 with the objective of providing planning and health
support for customers and their families. The available types of insurance are:

- Capital Tailyo Saving Life (Triple Cover Plan)

-  Personal Accident Insurance

Capital Taiyo Saving Life (Triple Cover Plan)

The Capital Taiyo Saving Life (Triple Cover
Plan) is a life insurance policy that provides
both protection against unforeseen events
and savings for the future. In this plan, the
benefit amount for accidental coverage
s three times higher than the maturity
benefit. Individuals aged between 10
and &5 years are eligible to purchase this
insurance. Policyholders can choose a term
of either three or five years. This short-term
insurance plan allows customers to save
a fixed amount toward future security.
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-  Hezith Insurance

- Group Life Insurance.

Health Insurance

Health Insurance  provides financial
coverage and medical support for the
insured and their family in cases of
unexpected health conditions, hospital-
lzations due to illness, accidents, death,
surgeries, miscarriages, and other medical
treatments at hospitals or clinics. Anyone
between the ages of 6 and 75 is eligible
to purchase this insurance. The coverage
period is one year, offering short-term protec-
tion. This plan helps reduce the anxiety and
financial burden associated with medical
expenses and contributes to public
health support.

Personal Accident Insurance

Personal Accident Insurance provides
coverage in the event of death, total
permanent disabilities, or specified injuries
resulting from accidents. It s designed to
address sudden changes in the insured's
lifestyle caused by unexpected incidents.
Anyone between the ages of 16 and 65 is
eligible to purchase Parsonal Accident
Insurance. The coverage period ic one year,
offering short-term protection against
personal accidents. This insurance helps
reduce anxiety and financial burdens
for the insured and their family in the
event of unforeseen circumstances.

Group Life Insurance

Group Life Insurance is a type of insurance
that provides coverage to employees of
companies in the event of death, perrmanent
disability, or injury. This insurance is designed
for both individuals and groups, such as
employee teams and organizations. Anyone
between the ages of 1B and &5 is eligible to
be insured under this policy. The coverage
period is one year. In addition to offering
financial protection, companies can also
use this insurance as a tool to support
long-term employee retention. If the insured
experiences accidental Injuries, death,
or total permanent disability, the policy
provides financial support to both the
insured and their family.

In 2023 MCEB Bank, in collaboration with
its partner insurance company, GGl Tokio
Marine General Insurance, introduced
new general insurance services, aiming
to provide comprehensive coverage and
financial protection for the valuable assets
of MCB's customers and their families.

The available insurance products include;

= Motor Vehicle Insurance
- Fire Insurance

Since 1992
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Motor Vehicle Insurance

Motor Vehicle Insurance offers protection
against incidents such as vehicle damage,
theft, and injury or damage caused to others
by the insured vehicle. Based on customer
needs, GGl provides a variety of coverage
options, ranging from Third-Party Liability
to Comprehensive Insurance. The caverage
lasts for one year from the date of premium
payment. The insured amount is determined
by the vehicle's market value, year of use, and
location of use (urban or rural). The premium
must be paid annually.
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Fire Insurance

Fire insurance is a type of coverage that
protects against losses caused by property
and building damage, gas explosions,
hailstorms, and other natural disasters, |t
offers specific coverage limits for industries,
workshops, buildings, and apartments. The
policy is valid for one year from the date
the premium is paid. The insured amount
is based on the construction or renovation
cost of the building (market value or Pledge
Area Estimation - PAE), the purchase, sale,
or market value of the property, the ariginal
purchase price of furniture, and the cost
of purchasing and installing equipment.
Premium payments must be made annually.
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lhtié'ﬁia‘:innal remittance sawﬂ:aa Undemtmd!ng the I'rmpurtance a'l" t1h1&l'}.r and
secure fund transfers to famllies in Myanmar, MCB has established partnerships
with leading international remittance service providers, including MoneyGram, Ria,
Merchantrade, Queen Bee, DollarSmart, Thunes, Myanmar Remit, and TerraPay.

To support expatriate Myanmar workers and their families, MCB provides multiple convenient op-
tions for receiving funds in Myanmar:

» PIN-Based Cash Withdrawals:

For remittances sent via MoneyCram, Ria, Merchantrade, Queen Bee, or Myanmar Remit,
beneficiaries in Myanmar can conveniently withdraw cash without the need for a bank account
simply using a secure PIN code. with mo cash withdrawal limit.

- Same-Day Bank Credits:

Remittances made through Ria, Merchantrade, Queen Bee, DollarSmart, Thunes, Myanmar Remnit,
or TerraPay can be credited directly to the sender's or beneficiany’s MCB Bank account in Myanmar
within the same business day, ensuring fast and efficient access to funds.

- Wallet Integration:

In addition to bank accounts, MCEB enables direct credit to the CTZPay mobile wallet,
providing beneficiaries with digital convenience and the ability to use funds immediately for
averyday transactions, This service |s available for remittances sent via Ria, Queen Bee, Myanmar
Remit, and TerraPay.
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MCEB Bank takes pride in its customer-
focused approach in the IMT business. By of-
fering flexible options for both unbanked and
banked beneficiaries, including real-time
tracking, multilingual customer support,
and accessible payout channels across the
country, MCEB ensures that remittance
recipients experience ease, speed, and
SECUrity,

In recegnition of the vital contributions
made by Myanmar workers abroad, MCB
continuously expands its international
partnerships and invests in digital infra-
structure to make remittance services more
inclusive, faster, and affordable, The Bank
is also committed to financial inclusion by
encouraging beneficiaries 1o open savings
accounts and access broader financial
services, contributing to long-term financial
empowerment for families across Myanmar.

Since 1992
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Corporate Governance

Myanmar Citizens Bank Limited is committed to maintaining the highest standards of
corporate governance in line with regulatory requirements and global best practices. The
Bank's governance framework is built on principles of accountability, transparency, fairness, and
integrity to safeguard the interests of all stakeholders and ensure long-term sustainable
performance.

Board nl;i Directors
Board Committees

Men-Executive Directors

Non-executive directors bring independent
judgment and diverse expertise to the Board.
They play a critical role in challenging and
advising management, ensuring that the
interests of shareholders and other stake-
holders are adeguately represented. Their
responsibilities include attending Board and
committee meetings, reviewing business
plans, and monitoring the performance of
axecutive management.

Chief Executive Officer (CEQ)

T
(]

Independent Director

The Independent Director  ensures
objectivity and neutrality in the Board's
deliberations. As per regulatory reguire-
ments, the Independent Director is free
from any business or other relationship that
could materially interfere with their ability
to act in the best interests of the Bank. They
contribute to balanced decision-making,
oversee corporate governance matters, and
serve as a member of key Board committees,

- Governance Framework
Communication (Internal & External)

Integrated Risk
Management

Role and Responsibilities of the Board of
Directors

The Board of Directors (the "Board") provides
strategic oversight and direction to the Bank,
ensuring sound governance practices and
effective risk management. The Board is
responsible for formulating policies, approv-
ing strategic plans, monitoring the Bank's
performance, and ensuring compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations.
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Code of conduct
& Ethics

Chairman

The Chairman leads the Board in setting the
strategic vision of the Bank and presides over
Board meetings. The Chairman ensures that
Board proceedings are conducted efficiently
and that all directors are provided with timely
and relevant information to make informed
decisions. The Chairman also fosters a culture
of open communication and collaborative
decision-making.

The CEOQ is responsible for the day-to-day management and operations of the Bank, In
accordance with the policies and strategies approved by the Board. The CEOQ reports directly
to the Board and ensures that the Bank operates effectively, meets financial targets, and
complies with regulatory and risk managerment requirements.

Types of Decisions Requiring Board Approval

The Board Is responsible for approving matters that are material to the Bank's operations and
governance. Key decisions requiring Board approval include:

-Annual business plan and budget

- Strateqic direction and corporate policies

-Appointment and remaoval of the CEQ and other key executives

- Major investments, mergers, acguisitions, and divestitures

- Capital raising, dividend declarations, and changes in capital structure
 Financial statements and reports

- Risk management policies and frameworks

- Campliance and regulatory submissions

- Related party transactions
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Corporate Governance

Orientation Programs for New Directors

Myanmar Citizens Bank conducts comprehensive orientation and induction programs for
newly appointed directors. These programs are designed to familiarize new members with the
Bank's operations, governance framework, regulatory environment, and strategic priorities.
The orientation includes;

- Overview of the Bank's business model and financials

« Briefing on regulatory and compliance cbligations

- Intreduction to senior management and key business units

- Review of Board policies, procedures, and committee structures

- Dngoing access to relevant training and development programs

Annual Performance Assessment

The Board conducts an annual evaluation of its own performance, as well as the performance
of its commiittees and individual directors. The assessment process includes:

- Self-assessments and peer reviews

- Evaluation against performance indicators such as attendance, participation, preparedness,
and strategic contribution

- Review of committee effectiveness and governance practices
» Feedback from the Chairmman and Independent Director

- Recommendations for improvement and training where necessary

The results of the performance assessment are used to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to ensure that the Bank continues to be governed in line with best practices.
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Board Committees

Board committees are formed to assist Board members in various specialized areas and
to enable smoother Board operations. The MCB Board consists of members from different
sectors, such as manufacturing, trading, financial services, import and export, construction,
enginsering, and public administration. These committess are created with a balanced mix of
independent and non-independent directors, who bring a wealth of experience and
expertise to their respective focus areas.

Our Board committees are established to address specific aspects of corporate governance
and include the Beard Audit Committee (BAC), the Board Integrated Risk Management
and Compliance Committee (BIRCC), the Board Credit Committee (BCC), the IT Steering
Committee (ITSC), and the Remuneration & HNomination Committee [RMNC). This
variety of perspectives helps ensure that the best interests of our bank and
stakeholders are consistently protected.

Board committees offer valuable oversight, ensure regulatory compliance, and foster
a culture of accountability. Minutes from their meetings are accurately recorded and
stored, and our Management Teamnm has been executing operations aligned with the
decisions, guidance, and recommendations of the Board Committees in a timely manmner.

During FY 2024-2025, a total of 38 committee meetings were held, with an attendance rate
of 73%. Detailed information about the Board Committees and a list of the meetings are
provided below.

1. Board Audit Committee (BAC)

An Independent Director serves as the
Chairman of the Beoard Audit Committee
(BAC), which also comprises two Non-Exec-
utive Directors. The Head of Internal Audit
serves as the Secretary of the Committee.
The Chairman holds a B.Econ (Statistics) and
a Diploma in Economic Planning (D.E.P).
and has extensive experience in auditing.
The BALC provides a structured, systematic
oversight of the organization's governance,
risk management, and internal control
practices. The Committee assists the Board
and Management by providing findings,
observation reports, advice, and guidance
on the adequacy and effectiveness of control
measures within the organization. BAC also
oversees financial reporting and external
audit malters, supporting the maintenance
of the highest standards of integrity in
the financial reports.
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Board Committees

2. Board Integrated Risk and Compliance
Committee (BIRCC)

The Board Integrated Risk and Compliance
Committee (BIRCC) Is chaired by an
Independent Director and is composed of
two Mon-Executive Directors. The Chief Risk
and Compliance Officer (CRCO) serves as
the Secretary. BIRCC oversees and reviews
the establishment, effectiveness, and
implementation of the risk management
framework. It ensures that transactions
are undertaken with due consideration of
associated risks and appropriate  risk
mitigation tools. BIRCC also reviews the
outcomes of business operations from
a risk perspective and takes corrective
actions when necessary. In addition, it is
responsible for supervising the Bank's
compliance with the policies and regulations
issued by the Central Bank of Myanmar (CBM).

411 THE CITIZENS CHOICE

3. Board Credit Committee (BCC)

The Board Credit Committee ([BCC) is
established with three Non-Executive
Directors, and the Chief Credit Officer (CCO)
serves as the Secretary. BCC oversees the
credit and lending policies, strategies,
and objectives of the Bank, including: (i}
overseeing credit risk management, (ii)
reviewing and approving credit-related
products, [(iiij reviewing the quality and
performance of the Bank's credit portfolio,
and (iv) making decisions on credit proposals.
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&, Information Technology Steering Committee (ITSC)

The Information Technology Steering Committee (ITSC) comprises three Non-Executive
Directors, and the Head of IT serves as the Secretary. The Committee is responsible for
formulating strategies and policies related to techneology that are critical for the long-term
development of the Bank's services. ITSC's key duties include assessing the Bank's
technical capabilities, setting technology and information priorities, and overseeing its Core
Banking System. The ITSC also monitors and receives updates on major IT performance
indicators, IT priorities, IT budgets, and the performance of the Core Banking Systemn.

5. Remuneration and Nomination Committee (RNC)

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee [RNC) is established with three Non-
Executive Directors, and the Head of HR serves as the Secretary. The RNC is responsible
for reviewing and approving employvee-related policies, remuneration packages, and
employee benefits, and also oversees the workforce structure, including the number
of employees at various levels, expatriates, and senior management personnel. The
Committee deliberates, reviews, and makes prudent decisions on human resource
matters in alignment with market standards and practices. It also supports the Bank's
long-term strategy and vision by encouraging employees to embrace a professional culture,

Positicm MName B BLC BIRCC HNC ITSC
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors have collective responsibility to successful operating of any
entity. In order to set vision, missions, policies, long-term strategies of the
business and provide guidance and supervision on different aspects, the Board in
aggregate needs expertise in all aspects.

MCB Board comprises the Members from widely diversified sectors ranging from
manufacturing, trading, financial services, Import and exports, construction,
engineering, public administration etc. MCB Board has been highly effective in
steering the Bank to success, The has provided strategic vision, appointed capable
senior management, and ensured strong oversight and control measures. Their
dedication to risk management and compliance has ensured stability and
regulatory adherence. The Board's commitment to ethical conduct and
transparency has boosted investor confidence. Cverall, their effectiveness is
avident in aligning our operations with our geoals and upholding rigorous
corporate governance standards.

According to the approval of the 327 Annual General Meeting (2024 - 2025 Fiscal
Year) of Myanmar Citizens Bank Limited held on 5" October 2024, the Board of
Directors consisting of the following persons was formed and assigned,
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Execut_ive Management o NN
Committee e

A management committee plays a pivotal role in the efficient functioning. MCB is a
diverse financial institution that provide diverse services to individuals, businesses, and
every citizen while navigating a highly regulated landscape. A well-functicning
management committee is indispensable for a bank's success, contributing to its
strategic leadership, risk management, regulatory compliance, and overall financial
performance. Their role is pivotal in upholding the bank’s stability and ability to meet
the needs of its customers while satisfying its various stakeholders.

Chief Financial Officer

MCB management tearm is comprised of seasoned banking professionals, having
exposure in different areas in Myanmar and overseas. They are responsible for shaping
the bank's strategic direction, and charting out business objectives in line with the
long-term goals set the Board. At a tactical level they ensure implementing the set
strategies, resource management, business performance in a risk prudent way
diligently monitoring key indicators like profitability, capital adequacy, liquidity etc. Chief Technology Officer Gl M Pt rees O icer
Additionally, they oversee risk management by setting risk appetite, implementing
control measures, and ensuring compliance with stringent regulatory requirements.
Furthermore, they bear the responsibility of governance and compliance, maintaining
robust internal controls, and reporting systems to adhere to legal and regulatory
guidelines.

In the ever-eveolving landscape of banking, the committee plays an essential role in
embracing technological innovation, integrating online platforms, mobile apps, and
advanced security measures to enhance customer experiences and operational
efficiency. Moreover, they are responsible for crisis management, ensuring the bank's
stability during economic downturns, and they represent the bank to wvarious
stakeholders, maintaining positive relationships with shareheolders, regulators, and the
general public.

Daw Aye Chan Phyu Phyu

Head of Depaalt Head of Centralize Operations
and Digital Banking and Control
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MCB

The Management Team in MCB hold a critical role in the institution's success and the
achievernent of goals set by the Executive Management Committee (EMC). These

leaders are instrumental in translating the EMC's strategic vision into concrete actions
and results. Firstly, they are responsible for ensuring alignment with strategic goals
and comprehending the bank’s overarching mission and vision, and they play a crucial
rale in guiding their departments to harmonize with these strategic objectives, They
act as the bridge between high-level strategic direction and day-to-day operations,
ensuring that their department's efforts contribute to achieve the overall goals of the
Bank.
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Secondly, the Management Team is the key drivers of strategy implementation. They
break down strategic goals into actionable steps, delegate tasks, and oversee their
execution. Their ability to provide clear direction, set priorities, and manage resource
allocation is essential for the effective execution of the EMC's strategies. Moreover, they
are responsible for leading, motivating and guiding their teams to foster collaboration,
innovation, and higher performance. They are also charged with equipping their team
members with the skills and knowledge reguired to execute strategies effectively.
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Risk and Compliance Framework:

It is said that risk is an integral part of the banking business. Thus, Bank Management
is essentially the management of various types of Risks. The magnitude of impact and
gravity of different risks vary, We anticipate, assume and analyze the probabilities of
risks and returns in every action we undertake based on the historical fact sheets,
prevailing market dynamics/indicators and probable future turn of events, forecast the
likely magnitude of the impact and set the integrated risk and compliance
management guidelines and controlling parameters for minimizing and mitigation of
risk to protect from the potential losses.

MCB's Board and Management Team fully understand and are well-versed in the
potential risks in the overall banking business, Accordingly, MCB has developed a
robust integrated risk and compliance management framework at the organizational
level and settled the policy, manual, guidelines, Standard Operating Procedures
(SOPs), Terms of Reference (TORs) for the management, and Board-level Committees,
and has been effectively implementing and practicing on a day-to-day basis in
business and operational processes.

For overall Bank risk and compliance management, MCB has defined five major
categories of risk: credit risk, operations risk, market & liquidity risk, IT & cyber risk, and
compliance risk. Correspondingly, five specialized risk and compliance management
departments/units, namely the Credit Risk Management Unit, Operations Risk
Management Unit, Market & Liguidity Risk Management Unit, IT & Cyber Risk
Management Unit, and Compliance and Governance Department, have been
established under the Integrated Risk and Compliance Department (IRCD). This
function is led by the Chief Risk and Compliance Officer (CRCO). Its core functions are
to identify, monitorfreview/ assess/analyze, and measure the risks in respective areas,
and further advise on control measures and mitigation strategies for overall risk
management to minimize the risk impacts posed to the Bank.

IT & Cyber Risk Compliance and
y L ] L Governance
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MCB strictly follows internal peolicies, regulations issued by the Central Bank of
Myanmar (CBM), applicable local laws, and internationally accepted prudent risk
management practices. To prevent the functional role conflict and ensure the
independence of Risk and Compliance Managers/ Integrated Risk and Compliance
Departments, as per the prudent risk management practice, all the Risk Unit Heads
report to the Chief Risk and Compliance Officer (CRCO), and the CRCO directly reports
to the Board Integrated Risk and Compliance Committee (BIRCC). CRCO and/or Risk
and Compliance Managers have dotted-line functional relationships with the CEOQ,
Senior Executives, andfor other HODs. Direct reporting by CRCO to the Board level
committee enables it to prevent the functional role conflict and/or undue intervention
or negative influence, and hence the Integrated Risk and Compliance Department can
freely and independently report the possible risk events to the Board Integrated Risk
and Compliance Committee {BIRCC) whereby independence of Integrated Risk and
Compliance Department is ensured, Furthermore, the Board of Directors shall have
oversight of all the integrated risk and compliance management functions, risk
reporting, possible risk events, and risk mitigation/control activities through BIRCC.

MCB believes in the risk philosophy that risk and compliance is not only the function of
integrated Risk and Management Department/Committee or Risk and Compliance
Managers but also all the employees across the Bank and thus we always strive to
inculcate this belief across the organization that all the staff are equally important and
responsible for overall Bank level integrated risk and compliance management,

Typically, there are four lines of defense in the risk and compliance management
framework, with three internal and one external. These lines of defense are thoroughly
trained and practiced across MCB to prevent potential risk events and incidents, as
well as to manage, control, and mitigate their impacts, The first line of defense includes
front-line employees and other management staff in operations and business
functions who directly interact and engage with external customers and/or
counterparties. They are responsible for ensuring the quality of service delivery that
minimizes risks, maintaining accuracy and efficiency in banking operations, and
averseeing deals, negotiations, approvals, and the implementation or execution of
Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), policies, manuals, and guidelines. The second
line of defense comprises the Integrated Risk and Compliance Management Units or
Departments, Risk and Compliance Managers, Integrated Risk and Compliance
Committees, and the Board of Directors. These groups continuously monitor, review,
assess, analyze, and define risk appetite, formulate risk statements, and advise on or
implement controls and risk mitigation mechanisms to prevent or mitigate the impact
of risk events.
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The third line of defense is the Internal Audit Department, which conducts regular
risk-based audits to identify and evaluate potential risk events and their impacts, The
department reports its findings to the Executive Management Committee (EMC) and the
Board of Directors (BOD) to ensure effective monitoring, assessment, and control of such
risks through risk-based audits. It is important to note that MCB operates under a strict
“Zero Tolerance Policy” with regard to compliance and governance. Additionally, beyond
the above-mentioned Third Lines of Defense in the risk management structure, a fourth
line of defense comprises timely audits and the issuance of procedural guidelines by
external monitors, such as independent external auditors and regulators, This external
aversight supports the identification and assessment of potential risks, thereby helping to
mitigate the Bank's averall risk exposure.

Risk and Compliance Management: Lines of Defense

: ik ""“' Risk/Cormplinron ntermal At
rranagemEnt seaff Rk and Muragens i 2 it

Interacts with

cUstorreErs, fish ) ) Ext=rmal Financial

Hick-bazed audiis,

= e . Superdisony
reparting findings i sl

IMspectsnns

Activities action taken
execLbe [

following policies

With the well-defined integrated risk and compliance management structure,
functional reole clarity within the risk apparatus and effective implementation of
integrated risk and compliance framework, MCB has been reckoned with as one of the
best managed Banks in Myanmar in terms prudent risk and compliance management
practices due to which our valued customers, regulators and all other stakeholders
have bestowed the trust upon us.
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Whistleblowing Policy

MCB is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance, integrity, and
ethical conduct. To uphold these principles, the Bank has implemented a robust
wWhistleblowing Pelicy, providing secure and confidential channels for employees,
customers, and stakeholders to report, In good faith, any suspected misconduct,
unethical behavior, or breaches of laws, regulations, and internal policies. These
channels include a dedicated hotline, secure email, and other accessible
communication platforms.

All disclosures are treated with strict confidentiality, and the Bank enforces a
zero-tolerance approach towards retaliation against whistleblowers., Reports are
promptly reviewed by the Human Resources Department, Integrated Risk and
Compliance Department, and Internal Audit Department, and where necessary,
escalated to the Board Integrated Risk and Compliance Committee. Investigations are
conducted Impartially, with findings and corrective measures monitored until
resolution.

Regular training programmes ensure that employees understand their responsibilities
under the Whistleblowing Policy, the importance of ethical conduct, and the
protections afforded to them. Through this framework, MCB reinforces its
commitment to transparent operations, effective risk management, and the long-term
trust of its stakeholders.

MCB's Whistleblowing Framewark
Feporting
Training Programa Channels

Raviaw Procase Confidentiality

Zaro-Tolerante Tor
Retaliation
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Internal Control

MCEB is committed to maintaining a strong and effective internal control framework
that supports sound governance, prudent risk management, and sustainable business
growth. This framework is designed to safeguard the Bank's assets, ensure the
accuracy and reliability of fimancial reporting, and promote compliance with applicable
laws, regulations, and internal policies.

Oversight of the internal control system is provided by the Board of Directors through
the Board Integrated Risk and Compliance Committee, which monitors its adequacy
and effectiveness, Management is responsible for implementing and continuously
enhancing control processes across all business units and functions.

Key components of the framework include segregation of duties, structured risk
assessment and mitigation measures, rigorous compliance monitoring, and
comprehensive information security protocols to protect data and systems. The
Integrated Risk and Compliance Department operates independently to evaluate
control effectiveness and recommend improvements, with findings reported directly
to the Board Integrated Risk and Compliance Committes.

During the year under review, the Bank's internal control system was assessed to be

operating effectively. No material weaknesses were identified that could adversely
affect the Bank's financial position, operational integrity, or compliance obligations.
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Human Resources Development:
Preparation for the Future with Aims

We strongly believe that the success of
MCB Bank is the result of the hard work
and dedication of owur staff. Therefore,
our Human Resources Policy s designed
in line with our long-term economic
ocbjectives, prioritizing the development
of skills, ethical values, and performance
enhancement of each individual.

When laying down HR pelicies to become
the leading service bank in Myanmar's
banking industry, MCB Bank promotes
five key wvalues-PRIDE: Professionalism,
Respect, Integrity, Diversity & Inclusion, and
Ethics. In additien, we continuously strive
to ensure that all MCBians consistently
practice and uphold MCE Bank's 10 Cultures,
which are grounded in these core values.
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Performance Development and Training

We are committed te enhancing the
teaching and learning experiences of each
individual, and a total of 382 training
sessions have been provided. The main
training programs includae:

+ Product Training

- Risk & Compliance Training
+ 5oft Skills Training

» Legal Training

- Sales Training

- Business English

+ Customer Service Training

These training sessions have supported
perfoarmance improvement among staff,
as well as strengthened their sense of
responsibility, accountability, and problem-
solving skills in operational procedures.

In addition, aiming to systematically nurture
future leaders, MCB Bank launched the
Management Trainee Program, which
has now reached Batch &. Through this
program, a total of 48 staff have beentrained,
and a Youth Leadership Role has been
promoted within the working environment.

Concurrently, in collaboration with partner
universities, MCB Bank implements an
annual Internship Program designed to
equip students with practical banking
experience and meaningful professional
opportunities, thereby reinforcing MCB's
position as a |leading financial institution
committed to fostering and nurturing fresh
graduates inte future banking professionals.

Reward & Recognition

MCB Bank systematically implements a
Reward and Recognition Program based
on annual evaluations of staff responsibility,
accountability, and outstanding performa-
nce. During the 2024-2025 financial year, a
total of 492 staff members received salary
increments, and 97 staff were promoted,
resulting in 589 staff members, or 52%
of the total workforce, being recognized
and rewarded. This initiative significantly
contrioutes to enhancing employee
morale, fostering a strong sense of
responsibility, and encouraging continued
dedication and excellence in the workplace.

Since 1992
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Implementation of Our Culture

MCB Bank has established a set of 10
Cultures that emphasize mutual respect
and shared values within the organization.
Cuided by these principles, the Bank is
committed to continuously fostering a
professional emvironment where every
staff member is empowered to grow
as a knowledgeable and technically
proficient banking professional.

Role of Human Resources

In today's rapidly evolving banking industry,
MCB Bank is committed to achieving greater
success through  modernization and
transformation. The capacity and compe-
tence of our staff play a pivotal role in this
journay, and we place great emphasis on
the value of human resources. Accordingly,
MCB Bank continuously strives to develop
and enhance both individual staff members
and the organization as a whole, focusing
on skill development, core values, and
effective communication across all levels,

Inbrief, MCB Bank is committed to achieving
long-termn success by prioritizing human
resources. We firmly believe that the
qualifications, respect,  values, and
leadership development of our staff are
closely aligned with our Bank's long-term
economic objectives, With this belief, we
continue to invest in our people and strive for
greater success in the future.
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Situation of Share Trading )(( YANGON MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK LTD
on the Yangon Stock Exchange #§% stockexcranee Top 20 Lists
Sr No Name/Company Name NRC /Reg No % of Shares

Myanmar Citizens Bank Limited (MCB) became the first bank to

be listed on the Yﬂﬂgﬂ]“l Stock EKEhET'tQE ['\FS.K] on 26 AUQUE’E. 2016. 1 CAPITAL EINARCIAL HOLODING LTD T 199142 22 345

On the opening day, the base price was set at 65,800 kyats, while

the market price opened at 7,800 kyats. In September 2016, the 2 CAPITAL DIAMOND STAR GROUP LTD 115672193 15.07%

share price reached its peak at 13,500 kyats. From (26 August 2016) -

to (31 July 2025), a total of (1,273,104) shares were traded, with a 3 DIAMOND 5TAR CO, LTD 116720057 B.92%

cumulative trading value of (10,082) million kyats. As of now, the i

current trading price stands at approximately (7,700) kyats per 4 IHNEME LN, It TS Hze5 il

share. 5 GOOD BROTHERS COMPANY LIMITED 195908206 5 £57%
6 MINISTER'S OFFICE (MOC) 4.79%
7 GOOD BROTHERS MACHINERIES COMPANY LIMITED 127402280 4.06%
;] JOS €O, LTD 133811087 3.86%
9 PAC LINK TRADING LTD 165336860 3 6%
10 STAR UNION INVESTMENT LIMITED 100601949 3.54%
1 DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS (MOC) 2.58%
12 DEPARTMENT OF TRADE (MOC) 2.63%
13 FARMER PHOYARZ AR COMPANY LIMITED 121138891 2,560
14 YOLING INVESTMENT GROUP CO. LTD 108744308 2.10%

11.80%
15 VI INTERNATIONAL COMPANY LIMITED 190667540 1.99%
77.80% 16 AHTAR OO COMPANY LIMITED 146746209 0.59%

17 PRO T (MYANMAR) COMPANY LIMITED 137465841 0.58%
18 TUNTHAW TAR TRADING COMPANY LIMITED 104801455 0.55%
19 FARMER PHOYARZAR GEMS COMPANY LIMITED 161000124 038%
0 FARMER PHOYARZAR MINING COMPANY LIMITED 104545033 038%
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Financial Highlights MCB
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: Return on Equity (ROE) Return on Assets (ROA)
e -
MME 2.8 billion MMK 342.2 billion Ratio 3.5 %
272 4% (YDOY) 22 5 (YOY) "’ 12% m "
+2.7% pt
A l +0.2% pt
A 1.8 .‘&J, 1o% 3 3 8B a” ﬂ.
FY-22 FY-23 FY-24 FY-25 FY-21 FY-22 FY-23 FY-24 FY-25
e
o
T sl T Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)
MMK 1,128.5 billion MMK TE1.9 billion 3.8 %
16 % (Y'OY) 1 218 % (YOY) ' 2.7 % pt ' z MTH
W 2 =
= ="
I‘_I,.“'- I.‘[F'.«. 4_!:Hi 4& -l:ll.;r'd.
Net Profit After Tax Assets -
(MMK in million) (MMK in million) Frzt  Fe@ Fras Frm Fras PRl Fr2z Fraa FrM FRas
fr Tier 1 CAR o Regunemen O CAR Regulaiory 3 Requirement

+15% ,,’D'

Liquidity Ratio Becarve Dakta
B0 il L & 134
v-22

20 L 0% o 20% 30 Tk I 5% 3Tk
o 2 = o o o ’ i}
! n FY-Zi FY.22 Fr23 FY-24 FY-25 Fr-21 FY-2Z F¥-23 Fr.24 Fr25
v T L 3 Liguidity Ratie o Reguirsment £F Fogenss Bata 0 Reguirermenl
FY-21 FY-23 FY-24 FY-25 FY-21 FY-22 FY-23 FY-24 FY-25
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Loan to Deposit Ratio (LDR%) Deposit Portfolio

Total deposits for FY 2025 reached 942.2 billion,

showing a 22% increase from 7722 billion in FY 2024.
80.9%

Current (5%) Savings (14%) Call (26%) Fixed (55%)

Thie current depodit for PY 20258 The seving depasit for FyY 2025 Tre call deposit for FY 2028 The fized ceposic for FY 2025
reached 469 hilion, reflectings  mached 12993 bilflion, showing  reached 247 billion, repeasent-  reached S18.3 billion, reflectng
&T.7% increpss from Py 2004, a 4% decline= frorm FY 2024 ing an A% decrease from FY & 7RI increase from FY 2034,
when twas 318 kallion weinen 0 waEs 1484 Dl 2024, whan it was 3026 Bllion winen iT was 285 hilllon.

¥ By by,

5% 14% 26% 55%

369 525 625 772 762 942
FY-21 FY-23 FY-24 FY-25

@ Tofal Loan (MMK'Bn) @ Total Deposit (MMK'Bn) < LDR Ratio (%)

. . Loan Portfolio
NMon-Performing Loan (NPL Ratio)
MMK . h-“- Total loans for FY 2025 reached 761.9 billion,
in bnlion showing a 21.9% increase from 624.9 billion in FY 2024.

Term Loan (71%) Overdraft (15%) SME (7%) HP and Other (7%)

4-4.4% Terrn  loans  resched 5380 Chverdealt loens reachied NB2 SME |oans 1odaled 53.8 bilaon HF and Ooher ioans amounied
hillsan in FY 20025, representing a billian m F¥ 32025 marking an in FY 205 reflecting a 165%  1oSLA billion in Py 2005, indicat
Lil;r"ﬂ”r?ﬂr"\-'[ 2 !';?'ﬂ‘-'.-'.n".l'l fram 1B.B% iyera e Moo 395 BSion Inereane Froem G6) il By Wiga E.I'er-lrlll'-ﬂr"‘-'[ chairue od 5245
368.) billlon In By 2024 I FY 2024 In Fy 2024 from 1.2 billlon In Fy 2024,

N i

15% 7%
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Myanmar Citizens Bank Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2025

Myanmar Citizens Bank Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 March 2025

Income Statement 31- Mar - 25 31-Mar-24 Statement of Financial Position 31- Mar - 25 31- Mar - 24

Interest income 87,990,427 252 59,508 115,069 Assets

Less-Interest expenses (66,285,844,183) (43,353,258,801) Cash in hand and at bank 166,678,123,553 174,700,418,012

Net fee and :_:um_miasiun incame 10,101,528, 741 13,51{:,55911]:!2 iiveistmiesis & T-bohds 112,592 136,742 113 479,266,061

CHikrapansing lnetms ;i:i:‘:g:? - ;:; ';’::'2; Other assets 65,817,891 673 50,332 253,680

St e o2 P d ' L 21,541 576,575 18,636,535,164

Increase of specific provision 231,320,167 519,500,196 POpRElY A g lien bl 636,535,

Increase of general provision (2,738,612 773) (2,127.170,524) intangibie Assets 3.703,512:49 4.920.919,3396

Income before operating expenses 31,957,262,355 22,345 381 953 Total assets 1,128,532,884,369 981,512,355,617
Liabllities

Administrafion and general expenses (25,558.012,674) (19.232,451,750) Deposits from customers 942 230,800,563 772,250,031 441

Depreciation and amortization (2,464 654,912) (2.206,226,586) Other liabilities 77.883,306,770 70,612,409 938

Profit before income tax 3,934,594, 769 807,703.617 Borrowings 32,333,880.000 65,385,360,000

Income tax expenses (1,114,231,920) (150,120,232) Total liabilities 1,052,447,967,333 908,247,801,429

Profit for the year 2,820,362,849 757,583,385

Other comprehensive income - = Equity

Total comprehensive income 2,820,362,849 For 959,589 Issued & Paid up Capital 57,124,662.800 57,124.662,800
Reserves 15,801,294 540 15,086,203 6828
Fetained eaming 3,158,950 698 1,043 687,560
Total equity 76,084,917,036 73,264,554, 188
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Total liabilities and equity

1,128,532,884,369

981,512,355,617

Since 1992
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Non-Financial Highlights

(a) Human Capital Report

During the 2024-202% financial year, MCB Bank has continued to prioritize human
capital as a key driver of sustainable growth. Despite challenges, our employees have
remained committed to achieving the Bank's business objectives while also pursuing
their personal and professional development. We aim to foster a workplace wheare every
employee can thrive and access meaningful opportunities. We believe that only through
high-performing staff can we realize the Bank's ambitions and long-term success
Therefore, we remain focused on continuously enhancing employee performance.

Human Capital Growth Strategy

Capability au_ﬂ&fm

- Talent Valuation

Stable Environment
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(b) Our People Profile

During the 2024-25 FY, MCE employed 1156 staff members at Head Office and branches across
the country, representing a diverse mix of skills, educational backgrounds, and professional
experiences. Women comprise 42.8% of our workforce, and their leadership and contribution are
evident at every level of the Bank.

MCRB Staff Profile FY 2024-2025

Non-Management Staff

Gender Distribution

Senior Management Middle Management Junior Management

« N7 \J

Senior Management: Middiz Managemsnt Junior Managemeant:
Balanced gender representation Balanced gender representation Male-haavy Junlor rmanagemeant
with S males ard 6 harmabes. with 11 rrales and 10 fermales. weith 56 rmales and 25 fernales

Our warkforce is multi-generational, combining the energetic and digital fluency of younger
employees with the experience and institutional knowledge of senior professionals.
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Non-Financial Highlights

Individuals Categorized by Age Groups

A =
.-"."'llr . .
i A Hx\.
[ |
- 509 142 68
Aged 31-40 Aged 18-30 Aged 41-50 Aged above 51

(c) Learning and Development

We believe that continuous learning is essential for both the individual and the Bank's success.
In FY 2024-25, MCB conducted 382 internal training sessions and one external training session,
reaching a total of 10,377 participants. Detailed information on training sessions is as follows:

Traning Sessions for FY 2024-2025

Operational Skills #3

‘H Technical Skills
Products Traning —i

; . . r= Excel
Operation Process Training =% .

: "=+ Core Ban stem
Credit Process Training -~ e

Soft Skills

Soft Skills - 1
Business English o

:'-- Risk & Compliance Training
s Legal Training
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Training Types and Sessions

| Sessions

G| orientation I (R

@“ .20

py—
Excellence

[ T

B3| Products Training |

anly Operation Process 82
= Training

C3 | credit Process Training

e
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AML/CFT/CPF/ABC

Annual Awareness Training
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Internal Acitivities Highlights
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Audit Function

Bank Statements and Auditing Findings

The Internal Audit plays a crucial role as the
third line of defense in MCB's risk managament
framework. To ensure the objectivity and
independence of audit functions, the
Internal Audit Department reports directly
to the Board-level Audit Committes
and maintains a functional relationship
with management This structure positions the
Internal Audit as both a key stakeholder
in the intermnal control system and an
independent assessor, In  line with the
core phHinciples of Intermal  auditing.

i .8
@ -
I
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The Internal Audit Department inspects
operational and business functions to verify
whether they are conducted in compliance
with internal policies and external regulatory
requirements, Corrective actions are taken
at the socurce level and further coordinated
with responsible officials at the Head Office
for organization-wide compliance. Key
findings and progress updates are discussed
with both the Management Audit Commit-
tee and the Board Audit Committee. The
Board Audit Committee comprises four
members, including one Independent
Director, two Executive Directors, and the
Head of the Internal Audit Department.
U Htay Chun, an Independent Director,
cerves as Chairman of the Beoard Audit
Committee and brings extensive audit
experience and professional gualifications.

During the 2024-202% Fiscal Year, the
Internal  Audit Department conducted
audits of the Account and Admin
Department, Cash management and Loan
Department across 31 branches. The findings
and subsequent corrective actions were
supervised by relevant Department Heads
and monitored by the Internal Audit
Department. On-site  audit procedures
were carried out at 13. branches, while 18
branches in urban areas were assessed
through offsite audits. Additionally, five
Head Office departments and concurrent
audits of the Credit Administration
Department [(CAD) and Credit [nspection
and Monitoring Department (CIMD) were
conducted using on-site audit procedures
bs part of value-added services during
this fiscal year, Intermnal Audit conducted
"Flying Squad™ cash counts at five
branches and year-end closing cash counts
for FY 20264-2025 at four branches and
the Currency Department (Head Office).
Centralized reports for Collateral Expiry

Since 1992
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Throughout the review period,
operations at branches and Head Office
departments were inspected according
to the annual audit plam, and
relevant recommendations were provided
accordingly.

Dwuring the 2024-2025 Fiscal Year, four Board
Audit Committee meetings were held for
business supervision, along with six business
coordination meetings.

In addition to internal owversight, the opera-
tions of the Bank for the 2024-2025 Fiscal
Year were periodically inspected by the Cen-
tral Bank of Myanmar. Furthermore, the Ex-
ternal Auditor, V-Advisory Limited, audited
the financial statements for the fiscal year.
The external audit report and the annual fi-
nancial statements for the 20242025 Fiscal
Year are hereby attached.
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BAYANMAR CITIZENS BANE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
lincorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
Directors’ Stabement

For the year ended 31 March 2025

The directors present their statemant 1o the membars together with the audited finzncizl statements for
the wear ended 31 March 2025.

In thie apinion of the directars,

The financial statemams are drawn up S a5 t0 ghve 8 true and fair view of the financial position of the
Bank as a1 31 March 2025, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash Tiows of
the Bank for the financial year covered by the financlal statements, and at the date of this statément,
there are reasonabbe proumts o beliewe that the Bank will ke able to pay its debis as and when they fall
due,

Directors
The patron of the Bank is U Tun Qhe, the Union binister of the Miniitry of Commerce.

Tha Board of Directors of the Bank at the date of this statement i as follows:

Ho. ! Name Position
i U Tae Aung Mymit Chairman i
7 | U Aung Thwin Oo Deputy Chairman
3 ; U Auing Soe Girecior
4. | Daw Khin Blar hMyint Direcior
5 | U Aung Aung Director
B ‘ Chief Cuacuthve Dffcer Directer
T LI Htay Chun Independent Ceractor |

Arrangaments to enable diractors to acquire shares and debentures

Meither at the end of nor al any time doring the financial year wos the Bank a parly to any arangement
whise obiect was to enable the directars of the Bank to acquire banafits by means of the scguisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Bank or any other body corporate,

Share options
Mo aptions were granted during the financial year to subseribe for uniBdued shares of the Bank

Mo shares were ssued during the financlal year by virtus of the exercise of options to take up unissued
shares of the Hank.

7ol THE CITIZENS CHOICE

Since 1992

Thatre wers no unissued shares of the Bank under an option at the end of the financial year,

Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Countering the Financing of Terrarism [(CFT]

The Directass conflem that the Bank has maintsined itd commitment to full complianes with applicable
Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Countering the Financing of Temrordsm (CFT) laws, regulations, and
guidelines as sswad by the Financial intelligence Wnit [FIU).

Related Party Trancactions

The baard of directars confirm that, except as disclosed in Note 27, There is no other refated party
transactions wers conducted by the Bank during the financial vear ended 31 March 2025,

Effect of the natural disasters

On 28th March 2025, & 7.7 magnitude sarthquake strack BMyatmar with it epic center near Mandaley and
Sagalng. Dwe to s Impact, some of the bulldings of the Bank were damaped and banking aoparations wérs
disrupted for seversl days. While experts and technicians wese carrying out damage assessrments,
gstimated monetary provisions were recorded at the time the financial statements were |ssued.
Adequate disdosure has been madea in Mote 30 to the fingncial staternents, and the situation continues to
be monitored,

On behall of Board of directors,

Towe istin
Chairman
thvanmar Citizens Bank Public Company Lmited

Data: June .y, 2025
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Complax 45, Tower B, #B 406, 45 Street, Botahtaung, Yangon 1HEL Myanmar,
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INDEPEMDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT
To the Members of Myanmar Citizens Bank Public Company Limited
{incarporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar|
Report on the Audit of the Financizl Statements
For the Year Ended 31 March 2025

Opinian
Wa hawe audited the financizl statements of Myanmar Citizens Bank Public Company Limited ("The Bank™ or
“the Companmy™k, which comprise the statement of financizl position as at 31 March 2025, and the statements
of profit or less and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, induding a summary of significant accounting
poliches,

In aur apinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Bank present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Bank as at 31 March 2025, and its performance, its changes in equity and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS:), the provisions of
Myanmar Companies Law and Finangial Institutions Law 2016,

Basis for opinion

Wi conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (154s], Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditer's Responsibilities for the Auwdit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank inaccordance with the Myanmar Companies
Law 2017 Section 279(d} and the ethical reguirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in Myanmar, 2nd we have fulfilled cur other gthical responsibilities in sccordance with thess requiremants, Wa
believe that the auditevidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit mattars are those matters that, In our prefessienal judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current year. These matters were addrezsed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinian on these matters,

THE CITIZENS CHOICE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit address

General provision of loan loss

f5 of 31 March 2025, the Bank meported total
outstanding loans and advances to customers
amounting to MMM TELET421 miltion. The Bank
made a general provision of loan loss MMK 15,237,438,
We considered this area a key audit matter due to
the significant judgment in assessing credit risk and
whether in compliance with regulatory reguirements
or not. This includes evaluating credit risk associated
upon recognition and non-impaired exposures, and
credit risk determining whether a significant increase
in credit risk has occurred or not:

Wie assessad the design and evaluated the opsrating
effectiveness of key controls over the Bank's [oan
issue process and impairment assessment process.
Qur procedure focused on the involvement of
governance  structure, the completeness and
accuracy of internal data inputs, and owversight of
eredit risk, Based on our reviews and tests, we
concluded that we could rely on these controls for
the purposes of our audit. We evalusted the
assumptions used in  determining the general
provision, including the assessment of whether a
significant increase in credit risk had occurred or not.
Overall, we concluded that the general provision for
loan losses was in compliance with Motification
17/2017 of the Central Bank of Myanmar and that the
determination of non-impaired exposures was

aAppropriate.

Specific provision for loans and adwances to customers

fis of 31 March 2025, the Bank reported a total
outstanding foans and advances to customers
amaounting to MME 761,874.21 million and an which,
g specific provision of MME 368057 million was
reserved on impaired loamns and  advances. We
focused this area 25 a key audit matter due to the
inherent subjectivity which might invalve in

manzgement’s assassment of credit impairmant.

We azsessed the design and evaluated the operating
effectiveness of key controls over the process of
identifying and mesasuring specific provisions for
impaired  loans and advances. Thess controls
included owersight of credit risk, continuous
monitoring of loan perormance, timely identification
of impairment Indicators, and the valuatisn of
collateral. This included evaluation of whether the
classification loans and advances were in compliance
with Motification 17/2017 of the Central Bank of
Myanmar and whether there was evidence of an
impairment loss. We determined that we could rely
on these controls for the purpose of our audit,
Dwerall, we concluded that the specific provision for
loan losses was in compliance with Motification
17/2017 of the Central Bank of Myanmar and that the
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determination of |mpaired exposures was
appropriate,

Information other than the financial statements and auditor's report thereon

The directors are responsible for the information other than the financial statements and auditor's report
thereon [“the other information”], The ather infgrmation comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, but does not include the financial statements and the auditer’s report thereon. Dur opinicn on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of essurance

canclgion therean,

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

Management 15 responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial staterments in
sccordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting Stamdards, and for such intermal control as management
determines is necessary (o enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, managemeant i responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to continue
a5 2 going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liguidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no

realistic alternative but to da 5o,

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to cbtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatemnent, whether dus to frawd or error, and to Eswe an auditer's report that includes our
opinton, Reasonable assurance is 2 high level of assurance but is not guarenteed that an audit conductad in
accordance with 158s will always detect a material misstaterneant when it exists. Misstatements can arisa from
fraud or ermor and are considersd material i, individually orin aggregate, they could reasonably be expected

to influence the econemlc decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Az part of an audit in accordance with 154s, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
shepticiam throughout the audit.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding. among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant findings, incleding any significant deficiencies in internal contral that we
kentify during our saudit. From the matters communicated with the management and those charged with
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goverftance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financizl statements
of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters,

Report on ather legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with Section 250 [b)of the Myanmar Companies Law 2017, we report that: -
* W have obtained all the information and explanations we have required;
= |nour opinion, the financial statements referred to in the repor are drawn up in conformity with
applicable faw;
*  To the best of our information and the explanations given to us, as shown by the books of the Bank,
the financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the state of the Bank's affairs; and
* In our opinion, the financial records have besn kept by the Bank as required by Chapter 24 of the
Myanmar Companies Law 2017,

In accordance with Section 89 of the Financial Institutions Law 2016, we also report that: -
# In our opinien, the statement of financial position [balance sheet) and the statement of profit or loss

and other comprehenseve income {profit and loss account] are, in all material respects, full and fair
and properly drawn ug;

* Tothe best of our information and the explanations ghren o us, 2z shown by the books of the Bank,
the financial statements exprass complately and correctly the state of affairs of the Bank; and

*  The information obtained from the officers and agents of the Bank is satisfactory,

Win Htut Aung
Certified Public Accountant
PAPP Registered No. &5
¥ Advisory Limited
Complex 45, Tawer B, AB 406, 45 Strect
Botahtaung Township, Yangon

June ¥, 2025

Yangen, Myanmar
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MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
[Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)

STATEPMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2025

BITYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PLUBLIC COMPANY LIITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHEMNSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MRCH 2025
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Motes 31.3.2025 31.3.2024 Naotes 2024-2025 Z023-2024
MARAK RANE MME MME

ASSETS Interect income 19 87,990,427,253 00,508, 115,065
Cash on hand and balances with Central Bank & 137 546,990,559 155 224 684,885 Interest expenses 20 (66,285,844,184) (43,353,259,901)
Placements and balances with other banks 7 67,919,630,994 46,931,989,124 Net interest incorme 21, 704,583,069 16,154, 855,168
Government treasury bills and securities 2 73,472,648,742 81,692,010,061 Het fee and commission income 21 10,101,528,741 10,686,524 448
Loans and advanoes 9 758,193,643,332 620,836,963,165 Other operating income 22 2,658 443,150 111,672,665
Investments 10 337,000,000 331,000,000 24 464, 554 960 26,953 052,281
Property and equipment 11 21,541.576,575 1E,636,535,164 Changes in specific provision for loan loss 231,320,167 519,500,196
Intangible assets 12 3,709,512,494 1,5326.919,536 Changes in genesal provision for loan loss (2,738 612,773) _15,12?.]?0,52#
Other accets 13 &5,817,891,673 50,332 253,678 Incomie before operation expenses 31,957,262,354 22.345,381,953
TOTAL ASSETS IEEEH‘EHﬁE %1,512555,515 Administration and general expenses 23,24 [25,558,012,674) [19,232.451,749)

Depreciation and amortization 11,12 (2464, 654,912) 12,205,226 586)

PFrofit before Income tax 3,934, 594,769 907,703,618
LIABILITIES Income tax expenses 25 (1,114,231,920) (150,120,232}
Borrowings 14 32,333, 880,000 65,385 360,000 Profit for the year 2,820,362,348 757,583,388
Deposit from customers 15 042 .230,600,563 772, 250,031,441 Cther comprehensive income - -
Other liabilities 16 FIBE3 306,770 70,612,409 935 Total comprehensive income for the year 2,B20,162,240 57,583 386
Total liabilities 1,052,447 967,333 908,247 801,429

Earnings per share 26 in 73
EQUITY
Paid-up share capital i 57,134 663,800 57124, 662,800 See accompanying Motes to Financial Statements
Reserves 18 15,801,294,539 15,046,203 827
Fetained eamings 3,158 955,697 1,043 BET S50 Authenticated by Directors: -
Total equity 76,084,917,036 73,264,554,187 .
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,128,532 884,369 981,512,355,616 ; Vs p

Yo har Lo bl
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements : |
¥ | TOE AU
Authenticated by Directars: - LR~ Chairman (Board:ef Directors)
i 2 LTI Myanmar Citizens Bank Ltd,
J ¢
GhinChoo Bt
] TOE AUNG
=3 CER Chairman (Board of Directors)
MVANMAR Ci AN LFY. Myanmar Citizens Bank Ltd.
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MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar]
STATEMENT OF CHAMNGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

MYANMAR CITRZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

{incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 20325

Retained 2024-2025 2023-2024
Share Capital Reserves Earnings Total Equity PMNK MMEK
MWK MMEK VMK MK Cash flows from operating activities
2024-2025 Profit before tax 3,534,554 760 L07.703.618
Balance at beginning of year 57,124,662,800  15,096,203,827 1,043,687.560  73,264,554,187 Adjustments for:
5 Depreciation 11 1,795 667,800 1,567.450.808
Previous years adjustment - - - -
Restated balance 57,120,662,800  15,096,203,827  1L,083,687,560  73,264.554,187 Bl 'y i SRR SRt
Changes in specific provision for loan loss [#37,320,167) (519,500,196}
VL PrTR For the your i s 035250 Changes in general provision for loan loss 2,738,612,773 5,127,170,524
IOV Jar thi e - it T Ll = (Gain)/loss on disposal of property and equipment 482,814 [149,752,080)
Balance as at end of year 57,124,662,800  15,801,294,539  3,158,959,697 76,084,917 036 Writban-aff of property and eqilpmsnt 72,438,756 1,805,952
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 8,979,463 ,857 7,572,754, 403
Waorking capital changes
2023-2024 {Increase)/decrease in Interbank placement {20,587,631,870) {17,109,481,934)
Balance at beginning of year 57,124,662,800 14,906,807 381 475,500,020 71,506,970,601 (Increasel/decrease in Loans and advances (137,125,360,000)  (256,358,516,179)
Previous years adjustment - (increasel/decrease in Other assets {15,285,237.594) (30,024,648,975)
Restated balance 57,124 662,800 14,506,807 981 475,500,020 72,506,370,801 increase)fdecrease In Deposit from customers 169,980,769,122 247 445,795,157
Met profit for tha year : 757,583,386 757,583,386 (Increase)fdecrease in Dther liabilities 3,41E,052,082 40,566,809,750
Provision for the year 5 159,395 846 {189,395 B46) 5 Cash generated from operation B, 980,055 204 (7,907 297 765}
Balance as at end of year 57,124,662,800  15,006,203,827  1,043,6B7,560  73,264,554,187 Income tax paid (200,400,000) {800,000}
Met cash provided by (used in) operating activities B,775,655.204 (7,908,097, 7659)
Sea Accompanying Notes to Finencizl Statemants
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and eguipment i4,777,012,781) (2,755,084, 779}
Purchase of intangible assets (851,580,071) (160,718,847}
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 3,382,000 158,832,629
Froceeds from maturity of government treasury bills 8,2159,361,319 22,076, 217,089
Mt cash provided by used in) investing activitles 2,594, 150,467 19,315,246,030
Cash flows from flinancing activities
Recoved) [repayment| of borrowings (23,051, 500,000) 35,610,510,000
Dividends paid .
Net cash provided by/{used in) financing activities [33,051,500,000) 35,610,510,000
Met increase{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents {21,677.694,329) 47,017,658,321
Cash and cash equivalents at heginning of the yvear & 155,224 684,888 112,207 026,567
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year & 137,546,990,558 159,224 684,888

Sea Accompanying Motes to Financial Statements
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MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LINITED
{Incerporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
incarporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

1. Corporate Information

33 interest income and expenses (Continued)
bAvanmar Citizens Bank Public Company Limited ["the Bank®} is incorporated and domiciled in Myanmar and has it
registered office at Ne. 383, Mahabandoola foad, Kyauktada Township, Yangon Reglon, Myanmar. The Bank wes For impaired financial assets where the value of the finandial asset has been written down as a result of an
estabdished as a public comparny imited by shares on 30 October 1991 with Registration Na, 274/19391-1992 under impairment foss, nterest income continues to be recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the
the Myanmar Companies Act 1914 and the Special Company Act 1950, The Bank has been re-registered under new future cash flows for the purpose of measuring mpairment loss,
myanmar Companies Law 2017 and obtained new Registration Mo, 149165466, The Bank was permitted to carry
out commercial banking activities under License No. Ma Va Ba/Pa Ba [R)-01/08/2016 issued by the Central Bank of 34 Fees and commission income
kdvanmar (CBM) which was issued wnder Section 176 of the Financial Institutlon Law 2016, The principal acthvities
approved by CBM include to accept deposits, lssue loans and advances, provide merchant services, provide trade Fees and commission income are generally recognized when services are rendered.
services, deal foreign currency, and aperate mobile banking activities,
3.5 Dividend income
Bacis of preparation and accounting policies
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
The firancial staternents of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting
Standards (MFRSs), Myanmar Companies Law and Financial Institutions Law. The financial statements have bean 3.6 Other aperating Income
prepared wnder the historbcal cost basls. The accounting policy adopted by the Bank are consistent with those
adoptad in the previous financlal vear, Gther income includes gains or losses resulting from foreign exchange transactions, commission inceme from
inswrance, miscellaneous income from sale of old materials and gain from disposal of preperty and equipment,
Summary of significant accounting policies
3.1 Functional and presentation currency 3.7 Employes benefits
The Bank's financial statements are presented in focal currency, Myanmar Eyat {MME], which is also the Bank's Bonus:
functional currency. The Bank recogrdes a lability and an expense for Bonuses, based on a formula approved by the management
of the Bank, which takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank's shareholders and after certain
3.2 Foreign currency transalations adjustments, The Bank recognizes a provision when contractually obliged to pay or where there i a past
ooy S : ; . practice that has craated a constructive obligation to pay.
Transactions in currendes other than the Bank's functional currency ["foreign currendes”] are recorded in the
functicnal currency, MME using actual rate or the exchange rates prevalling at the date of the transaction. At B Wioe
ezch reporting date, monetary lvems denoménated In forelgn currencies are translated at the rate prevailing on
the reporting date. Non-monetary ivems carried at fair value that ase denorminated in foreign currencies are Cisrrant-taie
tranciated at the rate prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currancy are not translated. Exchange differences arising on Current tax is payable on the taxsble profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
the settltement of monetary ftems, and on the translation of monetary ftems, are included in profit or loss: reporting date.
Current tax assets and Babiities:
The foreign exchange rates applied by the Bank at the reporting dates were: -
Current tax for the current and prior perjads & recognized az a llabllity to the extent that it has not yet been
MME/USD  MMEEUR  MMKE/SGD MMK/CNY  MME/THE setiled, Whers amounts paid exceed the tax due far those periods, the excess | recognized as a current tas
S viavch 2025 £ 1015.00 427358 1564.25 289.12 61.86 asset, The benefit arising from a tax loss that can be carred back to recover current tax of a price period is
31 March 2024 2,103.00 2,281.20 1,580.50 30511 BL33 recognized 45 a current tax asset, Current tax assets and Eabilities are measured al the amount sapected 1o be
.3 It Db ATl e remvere_d from or paid to the Internal Revanuve Department, using the rates that have been enacted or
substantively anacted by the reporting date
For all finandal instruments measured at amortized cost and Interest bearing financlal assets classified as hald-
for-trading and awailable-for-sale, Interest are recognized under “interest Income” and “interest expensa® Peferred tax
respectively in the siatement of profit or loss using the effective interest method, The effective Interest
mathod k& 3 method of caleulating the amartized eost of a financial asset or lability and of allocating the Deferred tax s recognized for all temporary differences arising between the tax bazes of assets and liabflities
interest Income over expense ovar the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly and their carrying amounts In the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises from the
discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument initial recognition of an asset or llability that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of
or & shorter periad, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the finandal asset or liability. The tha transaction, Deferrad income tax is measured ot the ax rates that ang expected to apply when the related
calculation takes inte sccount all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider the future deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liabifity is settled, based on tax rates and tax
credit losses. Significant fees and tranzactions costs integral to the effective interest rate, as well as premiums laws that hawe been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
or discounts are glen considerad.
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RAYANMAR CITIZEMS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar] lincorpesated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025 MNOTES TO FIMAMCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

38 Income tax |continued)
3.9 Financial assets and financial Babilities (Continued)

Current and deferred Income taxes are recognized as Income or expenses in profit or loss, except to the extent

that the tax arises from a transacton which §s recognized directly In egulty. {2} Initial recognition and subsequent measurement {Continued)

3.9 Financial assets and financial Rablilities {4} Available-for-sale

{a] Initial recognition and subsequent measurement Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are designated as such or-are not dassified in

Financlal nstruments are classified into the following eategories - finandial nstruments at fair value any of the three preceding categories.
through profit or koss, loans and receivables, financial investments held-to-maturity, finandial investments
available-for-sale and other non-derivative financial liabilities. Management determines the classification
of finencial Instrumeants at nltial recognition.

After imitial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, Any gaing or

Izsses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive incomae,

excapt that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and

interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognized in profit or loss. The cumulative

galn or loss previously recognlzed In other comprehensive income is reclassified from eguity to profit

of loss-as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognized. Inlerest income

calculated wsing the effective interest method is recognized in prafit or koss, Dividends on an awvaiable-
for-sake agquity mstrument are recognized in profit ar loss when the Bank's right to recede payment i
established.

[1) Fimanecial instruments at fale value through prafit or loss

Financial instrurmeants are cassified in this category consist of finandal assats held-for-trading. Financial
assets are classifled as held-for-trading if they are acquired principalty for the purposes of selling or
repurchasing it in the near term. Financlal instruments Included In this category are recognized initiatly
ot Fair value and transaction costs are taken directhy to profit or loss. Gaing and losses from changes in
fair value and dividend income are induded directly in "Met gaing and letses on financial Instruments”
in the statement of profit or loss, Interest income is recognized as “interest income" in the statemnent
of profit or loss. Regular purchases and sales of financial assets held-for-trading are recognized at
settlement date.

Available-for-sale financial assets which are not expected to be realized within 12 months after the
financial year and are clzssified a5 non-current assete,

The Bank's available-for-sale financial assets comprise investmant in unguated sharas. Investmants in
unguoted shares whaose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measwrad at cost less impalerment
laoss.

{2) Leans and recesvables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted inan sctive market. Financial assets dassified into this category include cash and balances
with Sanks, and loans and advances. They are presented as current assets. except for those expected

to be realized later than 12 months after the statement of financial positon date which are non-
current assets These financial assats are Initially recognized at fakr vahie, Including direct and

incremental transaction costs, and subBsequently measured at armortized eéodt using the effective

intarest method,

I5) Other non-derivative financial liabilitics

Mher non-derivative financial liakilities are inkally recognized at the fair value of consideration
recajved less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to inltial recognition, nen-dervative
financial lablfities are measured at armortized eost. The Bank does not have any non-derivative
financial liakilities designated at fair valug through profit or loss, Financial liabilities measured at

Interest income on loans and receivables s recognized in "interast income” in the statement of profit Mvoried cust riclicied depiasiie flarm Custamiars, epasi frowm Barike. i athar Borveu/sd funds.

of loss. Impairment losses on leans and advancss are recognized In the statement of profit or foss as

"allowance for impairment loans and advances”. (b} Recognition and de-recognition

{3} Held-to-maturity The Bank initialy recegnizes all financial assets and financial liabilities on the date that they are originated

and measured initially at fair value. The Bank deracognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to

Held-te-maturity financial assets ere non-derlvative financlal assets with fixed or determinable the cash flows from the financial asset are expired or the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
payments and fixed maturities that the Bank's management has the pasitlve intention and ability to transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the finandal asset are
hald to maturity. If the Bank was to sell othes than an insignificant amocent of Reld-to-maturity transferred. Th Bank derecognized a financial lability when the contractual ebligations are discharged,
financial assats, the whole category would be tainted and redassified as available-for-sale. They are cancelied or expired.
presented a5 non-current assets, except for those maturing within 12 menths after the statement of
financial position date which are presented as current assets. These financial assets are nitially [c) Offsetting finandial instrurments
recognized at falr vale inclyding direct and Incremental transactions costs, and subsequently measured
at amorized cost using the effective Inierest method. Interest on investment held-to-maturity Is Financial assets and Nabifities are offset and the net amaunt regorted in the statement of financial position
included In the statement of profit or loss and s reported as "Interest income”. Impairment losses, If when there is 2 legally enforceable right 1o offset the recognized smounts and there is an intenfion to
ary, are recognized in the statement of profit or boss as "Impalrment on ather acsats”, settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and to settle the liability simultaneously, This is not generally

the case for financial instruments with master netting agreements and therefore, the refated assets and
lizkbilities are presented on & grass basis in the statemant of financlal position.
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MYANMAR CITIZENS BANE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
{Incarperated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar}
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

BAYANPMLAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated In the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

3.9 Financial assets and financial liabilities [ Continued) 3,10 Impairment of financial assets {Continuad)

(d} Determination of fair value {3} Leans and advances{Continued)

All fingncial instruments are recognized initially at fair valve. At initial recognition, the fair value of a
financial Instrument i generally the transaction price, Le. the fair value of the consideration given or
recefved. Subsequent to Gnltizl recognition, the fair wvalue to finangial instruments s measured in
accordance with the valuation methodologies generally accepted in Myanmar, Investments in unguated
equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are mezsurad at cost, and assessed for
impairment at each reporting date.

3.10 Impairment of financial assets

(2] Loans and advances Classification of loans & advances Days past due Provision an shartfall
in security valug
Loznsand advances of the Bank are classgfied as mpaired when thay fulfill any of the following critesia: Standard 30 darys o
Watch 21 to 80 days 5%
Indhvidual assessment Substandard 61 to 9% days 258,
{il Principal or interest or both are past due for ninety[%0days or maore: or Doubtiul 91 to 180 days £0%
{ii) Outstanding amaunt is in éxcess of approved limit for ninety (90)days or more in the case of overdraft Loss Over 180 days 10059

facifities; or
(] Where a loan Is in arrears or the outstanding amount has besn In excess of the approved lmit for less
than ninety (90) days, the boan exhibits Indications of significant credit weaknesses.

For the determination of impairment on loans, the Bank assess at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that a loan | impaired, A loan is impaired and impairment losses are recognized only if
there 1o abjective evidence of impairment as a rasult of one or more avents that has ocourred after the
initial recognition of the asset and that loss event has an impact on the estimated futuere cash flows of the
lzan that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Bank use T determine that there is objective évidence of impalrment include:

(i] Any significant financial difficulty of the borrower,

fi} A breach of contracs, such as a default or delinguency;

(i) & high probability of bankruptey or other financial recrganization of the borrower,

(iv) Concerns ower the viahility of the borrower's business operations and its capacity to trade successully
out of financial difficultizs and to ganerate sufficient cash flows to service its debt obligations: or

(v} Any edverse news or developments affécting the focel economic conditions or business envirgnment
which will adversely affect the repayment capadty of the customer,

The Bank first assesses individually whether obfsctive evidence of impairment exists for ali leans. If there is
abjective sidenca that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of boss it measured as the
difference batween the lsans’ carrving ameunt and the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
The earrying smount of the loan is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
loss @5 recegnized in profit or loss. Where appropriate, the calculation of the present value of estimated
future cash flows of a collaterallzed loan refiects the cash flows that may result from foredosure less costs
for ootaining and seliing the collateral, whether or not foreclesure 5 probable,

Where a loan is uncollectible, itis writtan off against the related sllowance for loan impairment. Such loans
arg writben off after the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has bean
determined Subsequent recoveries of the amounts previously written off are recognized in profit or loss.
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Collective agsigsmant

The Bank's collactive assessment is currently maintained at 2% of the total outstanding loans, net of
individual assessment allowance, bieing the arrangerment prescribed under Central Bank of Myanmar
guidelings and pokicy,

ific provision
The Bank makes specific provision for boan and advances in accordance with CBM Metification Mo, 17/2017
Assats Claszification and Provision Regulations,

(b] Rescheduled and restructured loans

{<)

(e}

Where a loan shows evidence of credit weaknesses, the Bank may sesk 1o renggatiate the loan rather than
to take possession of ecllateral. This may invelve extension of the payment wia rescheduling or
restructuring through renegotiation of terms and conditions and make sure not to create the new loans or
debt that obtained from the same bank.

Held-to-maturity

The Bank asses: at each reporting date whethar objective evidence af impairment of financial Investments
held-to-maturity axiste a5 a result of one or more loss events and that los event has an impact on the
estimated future cash fiews of the financal imsestment of growp of financial irvestments that can be
reliably estimated.

Where there |3 objective evidence of impairment, an impairment loss is recognized as the difference
between The acguisition cost and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, less any
impairment loss previously recognized. i in a3 subsequent pericd, the amount of the Impalrment boss
decrease and the decrease can ba objectively related to an event accurring after the impalrmeant lo was
recopnized, the impairment loss is revarsed through profit of boss to the extent that the carrving amount of
the investment &t the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would
hawe been had the mpairment not been recognized,

Available-for-sale

In the case of equity investrents classified as available-for-zalae |AFS], objective avidence would include g
significant or prolonged deding In the fair value of the Investment below its cost, significant financial
difficulties of the lssuer or obligor, and the disappearance of an gctive trading market
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3.10 Impairment of financial assets {Continued) 3.12 summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
id) Awvailabie-for-salel Continued | The residual value, usefil life and depredation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, And adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.

If an AFS financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference batween its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortization or accretion] and s current falr value, less any impairment loss An itern of property and squipment is derecognized wpon dispesal or when no future economic benefits are
previously recognized in proflt ar loss, is trensferred Trom equity 1o profit or loss, expected from s wse. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the

aizet |5 de-recogrined.
impairment losses on AFS equity investments are not reversed In profit or loss in the subsequent periods,

increase in falr value, IF any, subsequent to impairment loss s recognized in ather comprehensive incame. 3.13 intangible assets
For AFS debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed in profil of loss i an incoresse in
the falr value of the imvestment can be objectively related to an event accurring after the recognition of Intangitile assets acguired are measured at cost on initial recognition. Subseguent to initial recognition, they
the impairmant loss in profit or loss are measured at cost less accumislated amortization and Impalrment losses, i any Intangible assets with finite
useful lfves are amortized on 2 straight-bne basis over their estimated useful fives and assessad for impairment
311 Cash and cash equivalent whenever there i an indication of impairmeént. The amortization charges are racognized in the profit or loss.
The wieful life and amertization method are reviewed annually. Software licenses and rights have an estimated
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid wsteful life of 10 years and are amortized over that perlod.
investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an Insignificant risk
of changeas in value. 214 Foredosed properties

Foreclosed properties are those acguired in full or partial sstisfaction of debts and are stated at the lower of

3.12 Property and equipment and depreciation
cost and Tair value,

Al items of property and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property and
equipment ks recognized as an asset if, and only I, It 5 probabla that Future economle benefits associated with
the item will flew to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably, The carrying amount of
replaced parts is derecognized, AN other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss when they are
incurred,

3.15 Impairrment of nen-finandal assats

Hon-financial assets, such as property and equipment, investment properties and forediosed properties, are
reviewed for impairment annuzlly, or whenewer evenis or changes in circurmstances indicate that the carmying
amount may not be recoverable. Where such indications exist, the carrying amount of the asiet is writien
deown to B recoverable amaount, which is the higher of the fair valz less costs to sell and the value-dn-usa. An
Imgairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the assets carrying amount exceeds s recoverable
amount. These assets that suifered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairmeant a8t each
Subsequent to Initial recognition, proparty and equipment other than freshold fand and buildings are reparting date. Na non-financial assets were impaired in the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024

rheasured at cost less actumulated degrecation and any sccumulated impairment losses, it any.

When significant pasts of an itern of property and equipment have different useful lves, they are accounted for
ac separate tems (major companents) of property and éguipment,

Freehold land has 2n unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. 3.1E Share Capital and share issuance expenses
Depreciation i computed on & straight-line basis calouiated to write off the cost of each asset to its resideal An equity instrument i any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Bank after deducting
value over the termn of its estimated wseful lives as follows: gl of its Habilities, Ordinary shares are equity instruments. Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds
received, met of directly attributabde incremental transaction costs, Ordinary shares are classified as equity,
Years Rividends on ordinary shares ara recognized in equity in tha pericd in which they are declared.
Buitding 4080
Leazahold improvemeant 510 3.17 Dther liabilities
Motor vehicle g
Furniture and office equipment Sea) Other Habifities represent lliabilities for services provided to the Bank prior to the end of financial year which
Machinery 16 are unpaid, They are classifled as current Habilities If payment s due within cne yvear o less {of in the narmal
operating oycle of the business if longer). Dtherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Other
Tie carrying valves of property and equiprment are reviewad for impairment when events or changes in lizbifities are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently carried 3t cost

tircumstances indicate that the carmying walue may not be recaverable. The policy for the recognition and
measuremant of impairment losses is in accordance with Mote 3,15,
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3.18 Borrowings 3.22 Fair value measuremant

Borrowings are presented as current Habilitizs unless the Bank has an unconditional right to defer settiement
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date, in which case they are presented as nen-current labilities,
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair walue (net of transaction costs) and subseguently carried at
amortised cost. Any difference bebwesn the proceeds (net of transaction costs] and the redemption valus ik
ristagnlsad in prafit or ot over the period of the barrowings using the effective interect mathod

3.19 Provisions

Pronvisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal o comstructive obligation as a result of past
events, IE B morg lkely than not that an sutflew of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
refiable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewsd at each financial year
end adjusted to reflect the cwment best estimate. IT it is no longer probable that an outfliow of economic
resources will be required to setite the obiigation, the prowvision s reversad. If the effect of the time value of
rmaney i material, provisions are discounted uslng a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability, When discounting i used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognized as a finance cost.

3.20 Contingent |labilitles

Whers it is not probable that an outflow of economic benafits will be reguired, o the amount cannot be
estimated raliably, the obigation is not recognised in the statements of finandal position and is disclosed as a
contlngent Habllity, unless the probabllity of outflow of economic banefits is remote. Poszible obligations,
wheae existence will only be confirmed by the octurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probabifity of cutfiow of economic benefits i remote,
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Bank in the
current and previous fingncial year ends.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be réquired, or the amount cannot be
estimated raliably, the obligation is not recognised in the statements of finandgisl position and is disclosed as 2
contingent Fability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote, Pessible cbligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the aocurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, ara
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probablity of cutflow of economic benefits s remote.
Centingent Habilities ang assats are not recognised in the statements of flnanckal position of the Bank In the
current and praviaus fnpncial year ends,

.22

Fair walue i a price that would be received to sell an a2sset or paid to transfer 3 lakility Inoan orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liakility takes place either in the principal
market for the asset o llabillty or In the absence of a princlpal market, In the most advantageces market for
thir asset or liabillty, The principal ar the moest adventagesus market must be accessible by the Bank.

Fair value measurement [Continuted)]

The falr value of an asset or a llabidlity s measured using the assumptions that market participants act in their
pconamic best interest when pricing the amet or liabiity.

The Bank uses valuation technigues that are appropriate in the crcumstances and for which sufficlent data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant chservable inputs snd minimizing the wse of
unchservable inputs.

All assets and labilities for which fair value ls measured or disclosed in the financlal statements are categorized
within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant 1o the Tair value measurement
as & whale,

For assets and liabiBties that are recognized in the finansial staterments oa & recurring basls, the Bank
determines whether transfars have occurred between levels in the hisrarchy by re-assessing cabegorization
[based on the lowest level Input that is significant to the fair value measurement a5 2 whole) at the financal
year end.

4. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Bank's financial statements requires management 1o make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that atfect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities at the end of each reperting period. Uncertainty about these m&sumplion:s and
estimates could result in cutcomes that require 3 material #djustment to the carrying amount of the asset ar
lakility affected in the future perfods. In the process of applying the Bank's accounting policies, management
has made the following Judgements, apart from those Inwolving estimaticns, which has the most significant
effect an the amounts resagnised in the financlal statements.

3.21 Redated parties 4.1 Impairment of credit exposures

A party is relatad to the Bank if: The Bank reviews its significant credit portfolios to assess impairment at each reporting date. In determining

la} directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediarles, the party: whether an Impairment koss should be recognized, the Bank makes judgements as to whether there is any
{f} controks, i contrzlled by, or is under common control with, the Bank (this includes parents, observable data indicating an impairment trigger, This evidence may Include ohserveble data Indicating that

subsidiaries and fellow subsidizries); thare has bean an adverse changes in the credit quality er deterieration In the payment conduct of borrowers

iy hasz an intersst in the Bank that ghves it significant influence owver the Bank; or individually or as a group. These judgements are applied in ling with its internal policy on determining impaired
\fii} has joint control over the Bank; loans.

(b)) the party is an associate of the Bank;

{e) the party is 2 jeint venture in which the Bank is 3 vanture; Judgement is required by management i the etimation of the amount and timing of future cash flaws when

{d) the party is 3 member of key management persannel of the Bank or its parents; determining an impairment loss for credit exposures, In estimating these cash flows, the Bank makes

{e} the party is & chose member of the family of any Individual referred to in (a) ar (d; judgements about the borrowers” financial siteation and the net realisable value of collateral. These estimates

{f} the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlied or significantly influenced by, or for which are based on assumptions about & number of Factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes
significant woting power in such resides, directly or indirectly with any individual referred to in [d] or (e); or to the impairment allowance.

{g] the partyis a past-employment benefit plan for the banefit of employees of the Bank, or of any entity that
is & related party of the Bank,

921 THE CITIZENS' CHOICE Since 1992 wiww.mchocomamm | 94

—



asi

MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC CORPANY LIMITED
{incorporated in the Republic of the Unicn of Myanmar)
HOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

4.2

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

Fair value measurement

Fair vaklue 5 the price that would be réceived to sell an assel of paid 1o transfer @ liakility in an orderly
tramsaction between market participants at the measurement date, Where the dassification of a financial asset
or liability results in it being mezsured at fair value, wherever possible, the fair value i determined by
reference to the quoted bld er offer price in the meost advantageous active market to which the Bank has
immediate acoess, An pcdjustment for credit risk is also ncorporated inte the fair value as appropriate. Where
no active market exdsts for a particular asset o lability, the Bank wses a valuation technlque to arrve

Falr value measurement(Continuted)

at the fair value, including the use of transaction prices obtained in recent arm's length transactions,
discounted cash flaw analysis and other valuation techaigues, based on market conditions and risks existing at
ragarting date. In dolng =a, fair value iz estimated using 3 valuation techniguee that makes makimum use of
obaarvable markeat inputs and places minimal rellance upon entity-specific inputs.

Depreciation of property and equipment

The eost of praperty and equipment i depreclated on a straight-line basic over the asset's estimated economic
ugaiul lves. Management estimates the useful fives of these property and equipment to be within a range of &
to 80 years, These are commen life expectancies applied in this industry, Changes in the exspected level of
usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the resideal values of these
assets and therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

Deferred and currant income tax

There arg cortain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination may be different
from the initial estimate. The Bank recognized tax liabilities based on its understanding of the prevailing tax
laws and estimates of whether such taxes will be due in the ordinary course of business. Where the final
outcome of these matters is diffarent from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions In the year in which such determination is made. Deferred
tax is provided in full, suing the Hability method, on temporany differences arising between the tas basses of
astels and liabikties and rheir carrying amounts in the finandal statements. Deferred tax assets are recognized
to the extent that |t is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences or unutiized tax losses can be utilized. Deferred tax asals and Rabilities are offset when
there Is & legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred tax relates to the same tax authority.

Impairment of non-financial assets

When recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on the estimate of the value-in-use of the cash
Egenerating unit to which the asset is zllocated, the management is regquired to make an estimate of the
enpected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and also to apply a suitable discount rate inorder to
determine the pradent value of those cash flaws.

Financial risk management

The Bank's business actvities involve the use of finandal instruments. These activities expose the Bank o a variety
of financial risks, maknly credit risk, forsign exchange rick, Interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Bank's financial
rizks are managed by the varlou: management cormmittees within the authorlty delegated by the Board of
Directors. These management committess formulate, review and approve polices and limits to monditer and
manage risk exposures under their respective supervision, The major palicy decisions and progosals approved by
these committees are subject to further reviaw by the Board of Directars,

The maln fingncial dsks that the Bank & exposed to and how they are managed is set out befow:
THE CITIZENS CHOICE
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Since 1992

Interest rate risk

Cash flow interast rate risk is tha risk that the future cash flows of a financal instrument will flustuate because
of the changes in market interast rate. Fair value Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a fimancial
instrument will fluctuate due ta the changes In market rates. The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk; throwgh
the impact of rate changes between the interest income and interest expenses at interasy rates defined
according to different types of depasits from customers with determinate or indeterminabs maturities,

The table next summarias the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 20249,
The tables mdicate effective Interest rates at the reporting date and the periods, in which the financal
instrumnents are repriced or mature, whichever |2 earlier.
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51 Interest rate risk[Continued) 5.1 Interest rate risk{Continued)

Upto 1to3 »3 months =1 year Total Mon- Tatal Sansithiaty analyvsiz of int A
1 month maoniths =] and Interest Interest The table below shows the sensitivity of the Bank's profit after tax to an up and down 1% -
12 months above sEnsitive sensitive
MK, Pk Bt (R BN MMK WK Tax rate +1% 3%
frnillian) (mifion]  {million) {million) imilllan]  {millian) {rillion) MME M MME B
m" Vear. Endec 21 Manch 2045 For the year ended 31 March 2025
Cash 17 5a690 137546 Impact to profit befare taxs {452.38) 45228
Interbank placements 1321538 1000000 1,200.00 IALEIEIE  IEAMM A EROI0ED Impact to profit after tax 17% {375.47) 175.47
GOVEMMENt Dreasury 1508495 1196426 4342345 F3ATLHS TEATERS
bills snd securities For the year ended 31 March 2024
Loans and advances ; : Impact 1o profit before tax {67136} E71.36
- Mat Impaired 67,599.19  B3,546.74 259,798.06  33I,01971 74396380 1446435  T5E428.15 impact to profit after tax 1% 557.23) 5503
Impaired %,119.53 - - 2,119.93 I 3,446,046
InvEsTmEnts 33100 33100 5.2 Credit rick
Property and equipment 41,541.58 11,541.548
Intangible assets 3,709.51 3,709 51 Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because s customers or counterparties fail to discharge
CIther assets 5 BL7 59 B5,517.53 thietr comtractual obligations, The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk
Total assets 9903450 11163160 17206231  F75 44236 BEOOVLES 27214170 113221345 it s willing to accept for indwidual counterpariies and for industry concentrations, and by monitoring
exposures in relation to such limits,
Liabilities and aquity
Borrawings 10,000.00 E 5 - 100oD0d I3 33386 3LI33ES During the year under review, the Bank revised its Credit Policy which gives directions on the Credit relsted of
Deposits from B15,390.17 15T.4€577 122,809.54 . BO530958 4692102  942,730.60 ihe t.ranh -@Im witaklishes lending :riteﬁ-g, creFitt risk identification, mitigation and ml:ll'litl:lfi!'li activites. The
CUstomeErs cradit review process provide: early kdentification of possible changes In the creditworthiness of
Other Rabilities = = - = 77,583.31 77,683.31 counterparties, including regular collateral revision. The credit review process zlms to allow the Bank to assess
Total lizbilties 625,390.27 157,085,077 127529534 - S05305.58 147.135.1% 1052.347.77 the potential loss as a result of the risks to which it ks expesed and take corrective action.
Total inlerest
sensitivity gap oo e R e S P ey D R Thie maximum exposure te credit risk for each class of financial instruments as represented by the categories of
financial #sset on the statement of linancal position is limited te the camydng amownts on the reporting date,
:;:: year antiad 21 March 2024 without taking into account the fair value of any collateral. For the statement of financial position financial
Cash ! ) : z 15592068 159,124 68 assats, the mawmum exposure to credit rick eguals thelr camying amount.
Interbank placernents 18, 000,03 - - - 100000 2 ZBAELG9 45534184 ) _
Government treasury 2,000.00 447725 5,245.55 6056921 8169101 81,692.01 The tal¥e betow sets out informaticn about the financial assets hald by the Bank:
bills and securities
Losnsand advances 2024-2025 2023-2024
- Motimpaired 5103437 5612416 24612384 25711676 61139913  G200E1  620,589.94 MMK Mil PAMK Ml
- Impairad 4,182.14 . 41,13 3280 425617 8785 434363 Financial assets
Ireestmants - 3F1.00 131.00 Cash 137 54699 159,124 68
Property and . . : . 1843654 1863654 Eovarnment treasury kills (1) 7347265 B1,692.01
epuipmeni Interbank placements BT 31863 45,931.59
Intangibie assets = = = £ 352692 3,526,932 Loans and edvances
Other assets - - - - 3043235 all, 33k 35 Meither past dus nor impained HE0, 380651 SIT408.22
Total assils 7E.216.51 a0.e0L a4l 252 41052 346, 11587 71534731 ZT027LES SE5,601L8.96 Fast due but not Impaired {1} 78,047 54 A2 31T
Individually past due and impaired {3} 3,445.06 4,343.64
ﬁ:ﬁ::ﬂ:“d equity Contn 4100000 0w s 658 ivestment Securitles 43100 33100
Dapodits from 453, %7556 16912010 11738675 .70 74048351 2 3L YeESE  TTL,I50.03 iher-financilacet ﬁ ﬂ
Other labillties : : : E 0,61241 7051241 i e
Total liabilities A54.575896 1012010 117 ZE6TS 070 FE24BTSY 13576420 Dog 247 80
Tatal Interest
sensithvity gap {378,750.45] (140,518.69) 13502377 326131817 (57,136.20] 14450735 TTATLIE
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5.2 Credit risk [Continued)

5.3

{1} Government tregsury bills and secanities are mefther post due pov impoiced, end substondioly with bigh credit-rating W
Myammar,

{2} Loans and advances past due but not impaoired; Certaln laans end advances are past due but no impaired o3
the colipteral values of these loans ond advances are in excess of the principal and interest outstanding.

{3} Logns and pdvances individually past due ond impaired; Certain foans ond advances are past due and
consdered impaired @5 the recoverolde wolues of these foans and advances are likely to be lower than ifs

carming value.
Liquidity risk and cash flow risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unabde to meet its finandal obligations as and when they fall due, such
as upon maturity of deposits and draw-down of foans.,

The Bank manages [quidity risk in accordance with the Board approved Asset and Lability Management podicy
framawork, This framework comprises policias, confrols and Fmits. These controls and poficies include setting
of cash flow mismatch limits, menitoring of lguidity early warning indicators, stress-test analysis of cash flow in
Equidity orisis scenarios and establizhment of & comprehensive contingency funding plan,

The Bank iz slso required by regulators to maintain 3 certain percentage of its liability bas=in the form of cash
and other liguid assets a5 a buffer ageinst unforeseen lguldity regubrements. The maln objectives are
honouring &l cesh outflow commitments on an an-golng basis, satisfing statutdry lguldity and reseree
regquirernents, end avoiding raising funds al market premiums or throwgh forced sale of assets,

The fakles below set oul the remaining contraciual maturities of the Bank's assets and labdities (inclusive of
nan-financial instrumedts) on an undiscounted basis,

Lessthan  Morethan Mo-specific Tatal
1 year 1 waar rreaturkty
AR MANIK W WK [RAE
irmillion ) irmilliaa) imilliae) irmillian}
Balanee at 31 March 2025
AssEls
Cash 137,546.99 - - 137 50655
Interbank placements E7919.62 B7919.62
Government treasury bills and securithes 30,049.20 43,433 .45 T3 AT2.85
Lopng and advances S38,854.50 33301971 3 TELET4.21
Investments E ey | 331.04
Othirr assets 65,8176 £5,217.89
BE4,IM0.E1  3T6443.106 4614885  1,10896034
Lizhilities
Barfawings 32,333.86 - - 32,333,358
Deposits from Customers 942,230.60 0,20 - 942,230.80
Cther Liabilities . = 7788331 88331
a7T4, 564 46 020 TIBE331 105244797
Met liguidity gap [310,182.15) 376,442.96  [11,734.42) H,SH.E
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Liquidity risk and cash flow risk [continued)

Letsthan  Maore than Mo-specific Tetal
1 year 1 ypear raturity
WK I MK MAME MBbAK
[millizn) sl {millian) [millimn]
Balance at 31 March 2024
Aszets
Cash In hand and at hank 155,274 68 = 159,224 68
interbank placerments 4592199 46,531.99
Government treasury bilks and securitles 13 7218) GEOES21 B1,652,00
Lo@ns and advances 36T, M3.91 25714966 = 624,593 57
Inwestrments 331.00 331,00
COither assets 50,232.35 50,331.25
Total assets 585,673.30 32611B87 50,563.25  G63,455.50
Liabilities
Borrowings 65,205 945 - 65,385.35
Deposits from Customers TAE 24533 070 T72,350.03
Other Liabilities - - TOE12.41 70,612.41
Total lizbilities B37 63464 030 TE1241 RI5.3ETAD
Met liguidity gap (250,961.30) 326,118.17 (19,949.16]  55207.70

The Bank's lquidity ratios a5 of 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 were 22,62% and 25.23% espectively and
hence maintaining abave 20% minimum reguirement of the Central Bank of Myanmar under Motification
18/2017.

Forelgn exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk |5 the risk 1o earnings and economic value of fereign currency assets, liabilities and
finarcial derivatives caused by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, The Bank's foreipn exchange exposuras
comprise banking (non-trading) forefgn exchange exposures. Meontrading foreign exchange exposures are
prindpally derived from investments and funding activities and customer businesses. The table balow znalyses
the net foreign exchange positbons of the Bank as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 by major curréncies,
which are mainly kn Myanmar Kyats, US Dadlars, Euras, Singapore Dollars, hinese Yuan and Thal Baht,
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MYAMNMAR CITIZENS BANE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

{Incorparated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar) {Incarparatad In the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025
54 Forelgn exchange risk {Continued) 54 Foreign exchange risk {Continuad)
Myanmar us Eurd Skngapsars Chinase Thai Tatal My aneEr LIS Eura Singapore  Chines Thai Total
fedfdE (R A AN R AARAK Rtk AR Felheil fdff K Rl hARAE MK ATRAE
{rmitfion) {miilion)} fmilffon) fmiifan) Imilfen) fmilifan) {rmition) {mitlion} {miitian] fmitlion) fraiilian) fmiilian} fmillioa} fmilliaa}
For the year ended 31 March 2025 Foer tha year ended 31 March 2024
Assoks Azsets
Cash amd 134,418,858 1.738.51 d33.11 150005 a.19 D25 137,546.99 Cash and 156,166.05 4,670,775 138482 145,18 011 .07 159,724 68
Intarbank 4052280 2550350 1355 2334 1,310.75 13658 67.819.52 interbank 1509528  37,189.70 2244 23.04 SE5.TH S4.6E 45,931.54
GEvErnment 713,472.65 TR ATLES Favernmeant BLESEOL B1 682.01
Lowns and advances = Logns and advances to cestomers ¥
- Mot impalred 5842818 755,428,158 - Mot impalred G:20,595.54 . . - = - 6200, 599,54
- Impaired 3,046 06 3 4EE - Impaired 4,343 B4 - - - - . 4 343 54
Investmeant 331.00 231.00 e et 33100 - - - - - F31.00
EWaP Recaivable I8, 547,80 256,247.480 SWAP Receivable 43,385.36 23,385.36
Other Recevable aG8 .14 368,14 Total Assets BE2 2XR.G2 53 245.81 D50.90 17297 545 B9 B4 T3 536,508,652
Total Assats 1.010,619.54 57,957.94 261.66 173.40 1.310.94 12604  1.070.450.43 Liabilitios
Liakilities Borrowing 43,000,008 ‘ : - 42,000,00
Borrowing 10,000000 . . 10,000.00 D=posits from 73545185  15539.19 2E.T 086 152.35 .07 FraIsnng
Daposits from H17.58.65 2 3IF0Y i | 1 1= 371.00 1417 942 230081 SWaAP-Pavable 23,385 ,35 25 305 35
SWAP Payabls 26,119,725 26,119.26 Total Liabilities TEB 46195 3E,584.55 2870 .86 15025 o.az? F37,635.38
Other Payable 12401 12301
Total Liahilities 9Z7 ABB.6S 50,5134 28.79 1158 371.00 1512 978.474.08 Met Open Position &3,766.97 14,261.26 23200 171.51 35664 5466 958873124
Net Open Pasitlen E3.130.89 738760 23287 172.3F 939.84 1X3 47 91,986.34 Sensitivity analysis of foreipn exchange risk

The following table demansirates the senstivity analysis of the Bank's pre-tax profitf{loss) to 3 reasonably
pesgible change in the USD, Fura, S50, CHNY and THE against the raspactive functional currencias of the Banlk,
with all ather variables hald constant,

L5 Euro Singapore  Chinese Thailamd
Dexllar Dallar Yuan Eath
RAREE et AR iR RriAK

(million) {mitlion) fmilion}  (milion)} {million}
For the year ended 31 March 2025

strengthened by 10% T3IB.T6 #3.29 17,22 5394 12.28

Weakened by 10% {728.76) |23.29) 1723 (93,09 {1228}

For the year ended 31 March 2024

strengthened by 1004 142613 FE W) 17.15 38,66 5.47

Weakenad by 10% {1.426.23} 12322 {17.15) {23.66) (5,47}
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MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
{incorporated in the Republic of the Unicn of Myanmar) {Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025 MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

55 Operational risk 5.7 Capital Management

Operational risk, which is inharent in all business activities, i the potential for financial loss, and business "Capital Funds” is defined as listed below:
instability arising from failures in intarnal controls, oparational processes or the systern that support them. 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MNIE PeifTE
The goal of operational risk managemeant & to balance cost and risk within the constraints of the risk appetite Share Capltal 57,124,662 800 57,124,662,800
of the Bank as established by Board approved Dperational Risk Management Framework and to be consistent Reseress 15,801,294 539 15,096,202 837
with the prudent management reguired of a large financial organization. Retained sarmings 3,158,950, 697 1,043 68T 560
76,084,917 036 13,264,554 187

It is recognized that such risks can naver be entirely efiminated and that the cost of controls In minimizing
these risks may outweigh the potential benefits, Accordingly, the Bank continuas T invest in risk managemaent The Bank's Regulatory Capital Adequacy Ratio as of 31 March 2025 and 31 March 20248 were E.16% and E28%

end mitigation such as business continuity management and incident managemeant. In reinforcement of the respectively, and hence more than 8% of regulatory capital adequacy and 2% minimum Tier B's capital as
implementation of the Bank's risk strategy, Independent checks on risk lssues are undertaken by the Internal presoribed by the Central Bank of Myanmar,
audit function.

568 Legal and compliance risk

Legal risk k& the rick that the businets activitias of the Bank have with unintended or unexpectad legsl

condeguences, It includes risk arlsing from: -

(i1 Inadequate documentation, legal or regulatory incapacity, Insufficient authority of a counterparty and
uncertainty about the validity or endorceability of a contract in counlerparty insolvency;

[ii} Actual or potential violations of law or regulation [including activity unauthorized for & bank and which
may attract a civil or criminal fine or penalty);

(i) Failure to protect the Bank's property:

[iv} The possibifity of cvil claims (inciuding acts or other ewents which miay lead to Eigation or ather disputes}

(v} Losgar increased charges assaciated with changes in, or errors in the interpretation of, tasation rate or law.

Compliance rak arites from & fallure or Inability ta cormply with the laws, by-laws, rubes, notifications,
directives, regulations, forward |etters or codes applicable to the financlal sendce industry. Mon-Compliance
can Iead to fines, public reprimands, and enforced suipension of operation or, In extreme cases, withdrawal of
authorization to operate.

The Bank identifies and manages legal and compliance risk throegh effective use of its internal and external
lzgal and compliance advisers. The Cormpliance function &5 Tormulated to ensure that the bank comply with
regulations,

The Bank has complied and followed all bydaws, rules, notifications, directives, forward letters and guidance of
the Central Bank of Myanmar,

5.7 Capital Management

The primary objectives of the Bank's capital management are to diversity s sowrces of capital, and to maintain
an optimal leval of capital which s adaquate to support businese activities and commeansurate with the Bank’s
risk prafile, and ta meet its regulatory reguirernments.
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MYANMAR CITIZEMNS BANEK PUELIC CORPANY LIMITED
[Incerporated in the Bepublic of the Unlon of Myanmar)

WOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

MYANMAR CITIZENS BANE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
{Incorparated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

6. Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash in hand

Balance with Central Bank of Myanmar - Non-restricted
Balance with Central Bank of Myanmar - Restricted
Placement with Central Bank of Myanmar

7. Placements and balances with other banks

Demand depesits with other banks
Placement with other banks

Flwed deposits with other banks <3 months
Fixed deposits with other banks >3 months

8. Government treasury bills and securities

Government treasury bills
Gavernment treasury bonds

e within 12 months
ue after 12 months

9. Loans and advances to customers

Demand loans
Overdrafts

Hire purchase
SME lgans
Trade guarantees
Home laans
Mortgage lomns
Solar financing
Education loans
Staff loans
Credit cards

Specific provision for loan loss

1051 THE CITIZENS' CHOICE

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MMEK MME
34,898,234,632 34,031,466,239
35,063,193, 404 71,446,132,830
28,797,074,523 22,290,629,819
18,788 488,000 31,456,256,000
137,546,000,559  159,224,684,888
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MME MME
28,404,339, 744 28,931,989,124
13,000, 000,300 18,000,000,000
26,515,281,250 -
£7,9189,620,994 46,031,989,124
31 March 2025 31 Mareh 2024
MME MME
- 4,000, 000,000
73,472,648,742 77,692,010,061
73,472,648,742 _ 81,692,010,061
30,049,204,805 12,722,801,012
43,423,446,937 BE,969,209,049
73,472,648,743 81,692,010,061
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MME MMEK
538,110,409,318 368,084,611,024
118,170,306,043 59,548,240,855
20,684,992, 200 75,360,824,971
53,765,731,004 46,119,267,761
- 1,688,754
29,864,046,664 83,746, 060,003
- B98,880,665
500,000,000 -
178,768,772 9,251,931
548,262,128 1,174,751,385
50,698,864 =
761,574,215,993 524,943,577,308
(3,680,572,660) (4,106,514,183)
758,193,643,332 620,836,963,165

g,

11.

Loans and advances {continued)

1) Loans and advances by types of industry provided are as follows:

Industrial Manufacturing
Transpartation

Trading

Service

Construction

Aericulture

zeneral

Financial

Staff Loan

Home Loan

(i} Specific provisions for [san loss by type of industry are as follows:

Industrial Manufacturing
Trading

Staff loan

Agriculfure and Livestocks
General

Investments

Inwestments in debt Instruments
Investments in eguity instruments
Unguoted equity share at cost:
Myanmar Payment Unlan
Myanmar Credit Bursau

Others

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
RMK MARAK
184,777,759,750  148,400,514,238
5,229,386,101 4,630,239 369
362,534,366,938  266,097.611,777
84,406,438,257 54,130,300,073
18,909,124,354 9,940,011,007
23,943,519,158 2,024,969,952
33,142,840 709 43,116,177,867
18,500,000,000 10,753,846,154
566,725,061 1,204,966,243
29,864,046 664 84,644,040,668
761,874,215,993 £24,943 577,348
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MMEK MK
16,658,208 8,273,255
7,790,431 3,666,667
630,977,716 734,728,245
: 132,978,380
3,025,146,305 3,226,967 636
3,680,572,660 4,106,614,153
31 March 2025 11 March 2024
MME MME
200,000,000 20,000, 000
130,000,000 130,000,000
1,000,000 1,000,000
331,000,000 331,000,000

The equity instruments were unguoted, held for strategic resson and not for sale. At each reporting
date, the Bank conducted an impairment review of the eguity instruments held. Following the review,
as no indicstors of impairment were ocbserved and the impact of changes under the equity method was
deemed immaterial, the Bank decided that these investments continue to be measured at historical

Cost.

Property and egquipment

Details of property and equipment were presented in Annexure 1

Since 1992
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P AMNMAR CITIZENS BANEK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
MNOTES TD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
{Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar]
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

12. Intangible assets 14, Borrowings (Continued)

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MiME MME Borrowing from ather financial institutions at 31.3.2025 represents borrowing from Yoma bank MME 5
Softwares, licenses and rights billlon with the interest rate of 9.5% p.a, matured on 2 April 2025; and from AYA bank with the interest
Cost rate of 10.15% p.a, MME 3 billion matured on 4 April 2025 and MME 2 billien matured on 2 April 2025,
Balance at beginning of the year 6,464,083,417 6,303,364,570
Additions during the year 851,580,071 160,718 847 . Deposits from customers
Balance at the end of the year 7,315,663 438 6,464,083 417 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
PARTE MME
Accumulated amortization Call deposits 247 067,430,295 302,643 875,390
Balance at beginning of the year 2,937,163, 881 2,29% 388,193 Time deposits 518,343 716,892 289,470,995,334
Amiortization during the year B&SE 94T 112 6AT 775 680 Current deposits 46,921,021,284 31, 766,520,082
Balance at the end of the year 3,606,150,994 2,937,163 881 Saving deposits 129,898,632,092 148,368,636,685
942, 230,800,563 772,250,031,441
Met book value
Balance at the end of the year S,MEIEZIJ&H 3;1&,&1?&35 Above include deposits from other banks EBI?SE.?-DE,EIIE ﬂS.EI-H,iE-E:??E
Balance at beginning of the year 3,526,919,536 4,003,976,377 . Other lfabilities
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
FARIE MK
13, Other assets Imterast in suspense 10,219,646,973 12,687 456,803
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 Interest recovered in advance (82,082,021) {302.011,278}
MARAK MRMEK Interest payable on deposits 10,049,283.749 6,543,060,731
interest receivable on loans and advances 132,044,630 246 13,715678473 Payment arder 1,134,144 740 EB5,023,207
Interest receivable on treasury bill and coupon recenvable - 59,544 B20 Other payables 2,385317,222 B,822,237,195
Interest receivable on deposit with banks 257,806,067 7,249,315 Sundry deposit 1,958, 268,151 1,509,780,668
SWAP receivables 23,533 860,000 23,385 360,000 Swap Payable MME 3H VER 488 000 31,456, 256,000
Frepayments and advances 18,10%,256,478 10,056,371,861 Current year tax payable 1,164,231,920 150,120,232
Advance income tax 340,240,383 289,960,614 Ganerz| provision on loans and advances 10,741,173,988 B,002,561,215
Advance interest paid of fixed deposit 855,372 63a 51,498 625 Provision for cash shortage and others 1,510,981,331 E834,042,751
Receivables from business partners 11,786,015.026 303,125 565 Payable to business partners 13,852,717 53,883,664
E-money deposit - Citizens Pay 80,000,000 282,000,000 77 883 306,770 70,612 409 988
Suspense - Money Gram and IME 1437,104,772 370,658,956
Suspense - Others {1,563,393,935) 1,800,304 589
65,817,891,673 50,332,253 678
14. Borrowings
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MME MK
Borrowing from Central Bank of Myanmar 22,333,860,000 64,385,360,000
Borrowing from other financial instiiutions 10,000,000,000 1,003, 00 000
32,333,860,000 55,385,360,000

Borrowing from Central Bank of Myanmar at 31.3.2025 represents SWAP of USD 10.62 million {maturity
4 May 2025, in which the bank acts as an Intermediary between CEM and customers, thus there is no

impact to the Bank regarding interest of this SWAP deal.
1071 THECITIZENS CHOICE
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{imcarparated in the Republic of the Unlon of Myanmer]
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

MYARNMAR CITIZENS BANK PLUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
{Incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

17. Paid-up share capital 19. Interest income

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 2024-2025 2023-2024
hAMK MIME PR MNIEK
Interest income an hire purchase 2,083,659, 476 3,131,062,574
Share capital 57.124,662,200 57,124,662 80{0 Interest income an loans and overdrafts B4, 245,630,267 37,001,326, 968
Interest income on SME loan 3,201,0:08,832 2,431,705,057
Mumbers of share 10,400,936 10,400,986 Interest income on home loan 5,784,332, 210 4,816,688,573
Interest income on staff loan 5,965,958 15,924,709
The share capital amount includes share premium MWME 5,119,732 800 and shares are not with par value as Interest income on trade guarantee BO2,397 112,914
per Myanmar Companies Law 2017, Interest on Martgage Loan 4% 628041 0,872 870
Interest on Solar Financing 1,065,493 .
15, Reserves Interest on Visa Credit Card 173,749 -
Statutory reserve mﬂn Contingencles Interest income on investment 12,626,350,930 12,031,721,404
fund™ Pt r . Total £7,990,427 253 559,508,115 069
loan loss™
MK MME rARIE RARAK Mote: FR-2025 2W023-2024
Balances at 1-4-2024 10,587,893,495  4,496,310,332 12,000,000 15,066, 203,827 -
Erovision for the year 105,090,712 ' = 705,090,712 Interest rate on loans and advances T.5%~15% 5.5%~14.5%
Balances at 31-3-2025 11,292,984,207 4,496,310,332 13,000,000 _15,&!1,!5-4.‘539 itk rate oe Cradit Cirvd 16 58 %
Interest rate on deposit with other banks BHI2% 5.1%~0.5%
Balances at 1-4-2023 10,398,497, 649  4,496,310,332 12,000,000 14,906,207 921
Provision for the yvear 185,395 846 = % 189,595 B46 . Interest expenses
Balances at 31-3-2024 10,587 E93,455 4,496,310,332 13,000,000 15.096,203,827 024-2025 2023-7024
" FARIK MME
lSI:Eltl.J’:I:I-r',' reserve represents reserve fund equal to 25% of net profit after tax which has been set aside in Interest expense on saving deposit 7.183,721,004 5,404,136,691
accordance with Section 35(a) of Financial Institutions Law and not distributable as cash daidend. Interest expense on fived deposit 37,173,589,327 22,076,026,580
Interest expense on call deposit 20,317, 240,703 14,469,624,212
Mizeneral provision for loan loss represents provision of 2% on total loans and advances which was sat aside Interest expense on inter bank barrowing 1,611,193,151 403,472,418
a5 raserve, Starting from 2018-2019 financial year, the above 2% genaral provisions were charged to profit 66, 285,544,184 43,353,259,901

of loss and respective credits were shown under other liabilities

MNote;:

Interest on saving deposit was 7%™~11% p.a. and caloulated on the minimum balance of the account

during the period from the Sth day to end of the month.

L Interect expenses [continwead)

2023-2025 2023-20249
Intarest rates on fixed deposit were as follows:

1 manth TH~11% 6.5%~7.5%
3 maonths i T.5%"5.25%
B months F.T5%~12.5% F.75%5.5%
9 months 7.75%~12.75% T.75%9%
12 manths 2%~13% B%~9.E%
24 months B.25% B.25%

Interest on call depasit was 65~7T% poa, and calculated based on minimum daily balance.
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PAYANMAR CITIZENS BAMNK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)

MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS fior the year ended 31 March 2025

MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

24, Adminkstration and general expenses

21. Met fee and commission Income 2024-2025 2023-2024
2024-2025 2023-2024 RARAK MMME
MPME MK Annual general meeting expense 23,183,345 12,160,367
Fees and commission income Directors' meating fees 137,300,000 113, 700,000
Services fee income 7.686,153,441 6,886,964, 747 Donation and entertainment 132,458,901 55,960,684
Commission income 3,123,725,419 4,033,770,156 Insurance 137,088,901 115,971,668
Card related income 233,800,626 351,872 604 Marketing and advertzing 468,210,634 246,715,703
Other fees income 1,423,400 1,713,390 Miscellaneous expenses 336,608,933 113,837,720
11,045,102, 886 11 273,820 897 Oifice supplies 481,501,723 311,525,409
Professional service fees 209,171,915 115,145,815
Fees and commission expense Rates and taxes 129,560,383 74,448,883
Bank commission and service charges 185,563 100 142,671,676 Registration and licenss 1,585, 872,272 1.280,407,514
Card related expenses 740,073,045 435,418,773 Fent 1.565,812.273 2,104, 960,706
Other fee expenses 17,932,000 9,206,000 Repair and maintenance 3, 764,064,189 1,329,002,079
A3 574,145 587,296,445 Travel and transport 199,515,547 181,644,776
Utilities 1.785,562,50 1,948,282,279
10,101 528,741 10,686,524 448 Written off 1,028,856,087 131,554,662
{Gain) Loss on disposal 482,814 (149,752, 080)
22. Other operating income 13,781,360,421 8,054,570,185
2024-2025 2023-2024
MPME MME 25. Income tax expensas
Net income from foreign currency transactions 2446 810 664 (28,1231 574 2024-2025 2023-2024
{Lossl/gain on revaluation 5E,5595,234 (41,721217) PARAK MM K
Miscellaneous incoms 110,037 252 181,515,456 Current tax - Corporate income 1ax 1,114,231.320 135,177,826
2,4558,443,150 111,672,665 Current tax - Capital gain tax - 14,542 405
lllliiﬁﬂ 150,120,232
23. Personnel expenses
2024-2025 2023-2024 26. Earnings per share
MK MBK
Salaries and wages {local) 8,194,142.751 B.558,010,620 Basic and diluted eamings per share
Salerles and wages {foreign) 1,223,033,981 982,667,837 2028-2025 2023-2024
Overtime allowance 201,240,619 178,571, 806 PARAIK TRE
House allowance 200,454 350 127,873,478 Met profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank Z,B20,362,849 757,583,385
Contribution to employves banafit 113,881 6500 104,325,800
Compensation 28,000,000 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in igsue 10,500,266 10,400,936
Cther staff related expenses 1,315 894 042 1,186,432,023 Effects of dilution - -
12.276,652,253 11,137,881,564 Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares in Issue 10,400 986 10,400,985
271 73

27, Related party transactions

Related parties include the Bank's key management persennel and their related parties. Key management
personnel pefer to the Bank's directors and members of its Management Executive Committes and C-leval

officers,

In addition to those disclosed elsewheres in the financial statements, the following significant related party

transactions took piace during the financial year, on terms agreed between the parties.
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MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC CORMPANY LIMITED
{Incarporoted in the Repuolic of the Unlen of Myanmor)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

1,

Related party transactions (Continued)

fa] Sales and purchase of goods and services 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
RMME BAME

Rental expense charged to profit or loss
under the contracts with retated parties 619,297,836 591,335,456

(b} Cutstanding balances

Deposits with related parties 218,211,801,147 77,753,144,520
Loans and advances with refated parties 13,001,565,714 23,094,185 768
Prepald rental outstanding with related parties 454, 138,475 248,363,750
(¢} Key management personnel compensation 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
MK MMKE
Salaries and wages 1,461,413,332 1,654, 627,603
Directors' meeting fees 137,300,000 113,700,000

Guarantess and commitments

[a) Bank guarantess 31 March 2025 31 March 2023
TRE MME
Guarantees in local currency 30,260,901, 246 16,153,333,913

Guarantees in forsign currency - -

30,260,961,246 1§,153,333,913

Guarantees are contracts that contingently require the Bank to make payments to @ guarantesd party
based on an event or a change in an underlying asset and lability, Guarantees are taken into account in the
general ledger on contra, at the reporting date.

[b] Commitments 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
PARE VIR

Undrawn averdraft 17 404,365,812 B,680,574,003

Rantal axpenss 5,444,110,214 5,810, 580,565

#2,838,4876,026 14,491,554,568

Acceptance, Endorsement and Guarantes

Beceivable and pavable of Acceptance, Endorsement and Guarantee were offset in the statement of
financial position,
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MYANMAR CITIZENS BANK PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
{incorporabed in the Republic of the Union of Mypanmar)
MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 March 2025

30. Events After Reporting Period

0 28 March 2025, an earthgquake occrued in Mandalay, Sagaing, Naypyitaw, Shan and Bago Division
affecting areas whera the company operates.

&5 of the reporting date 21 March 2025, the Bank had preliminary assessed, not thorough inspections,
regarding the impact of the earthquake on its cperations, assets and financial condition as follows:

1, Operation lmpact

The earthquake casused temporary disruption to Bank's operations in 8 few branches in Mandalay Division
affecting areas whera the company operates.

2, Asset and Property Damage

Preliminzry inspactions indicate the number of branches damage are as follow:

Minor damage 2 branches
Moderate damage 3 branches
Significant damage 2 branches

The estimate cost of repairs & MME 484 million, which = belng evaluated. Proviclon had made for the
estimeate cost of repalrs and included in current financial statements.

3. Customer impact on Credit Risk
The company & currently assessing the financial position of customers in the affected areas, particulary

borrowers in retall, SME and other sectors, Provision for expected credit losses may be adjusted in
subseguent pericds based on detall loan reviews and the Impact of the diaster.

4_Insurance Coverage

The company maintains insurance coverage for natural disasters, Due to the minor damage, Clalms have
not besn made to insurance company.

5. Financial Statement impact
Based on available information, Board of Directors and Management belizves the Impact of the earthguake
does not materizlly affect the financial statements as of 31 March 2025, However, the situation remains

under review, and any affected will be disclosed in tha next reporting period.

B. Going Concern

The earthquake does not affect the company's ability to continee as a golng concern. Board of Direcotars
and Manzgement continues o monitor the situation and will be provide future update as approgpriate.
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